
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning Committee 
 
Meeting: Tuesday, 1st August 2023 at 6.00 pm in North Warehouse, The 

Docks, Gloucester, GL1 2EP 
 
 
Membership: Cllrs. Taylor (Chair), Morgan (Vice-Chair), Bhaimia, D. Brown, 

J. Brown, Campbell, Conder, Dee, Gravells MBE, Sawyer, Toleman 
and Tracey 

Contact: Democratic and Electoral Services 
01452 396126 
democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES  

 
To receive any apologies for absence.  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
To receive from Members, declarations of the existence of any disclosable pecuniary, or non-
pecuniary, interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any agenda item. Please 
see Agenda Notes.  

3.   MINUTES (Pages 7 - 16) 
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 4th July, 2023.   

4.   LATE MATERIAL  
 
Please note that any late material in respect of the applications detailed below will be 
published as a supplement on the Council’s website in the late afternoon of the day before 
the meeting. Additional late material will be uploaded as a supplement on the Council’s 
website on the day of the meeting, should further relevant representations be received 
thereafter.  

5.   LAND OFF MATSON LANE, GLOUCESTER - 22/00627/FUL (Pages 17 - 52) 
 
Application for Determination:  
 
Construction of 9 no. residential apartments, change of use of existing School Lodge building 
to a community use (Use Class F2), open space, landscaping, SUDS, amended vehicular 
access, car parking and associated works.  

6.   DELEGATED DECISIONS (Pages 53 - 64) 
 
To consider a schedule of applications determined under delegated powers during the month 
of May and June 2023.  

mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


 

2 
 

7.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Tuesday 5th September, 2023. 

 
 
 

 
Jon McGinty 
Managing Director 
 
Date of Publication: Monday, 24 July 2023 
 
 



 

3 
 

NOTES 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a member 
has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows – 
 
Interest 

 
Prescribed description 

 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the Council) made or provided within the previous 12 months 
(up to and including the date of notification of the interest) in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you carrying out duties as a 
member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between you, your spouse or civil 
partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or civil 
partner (or a body in which you or they have a beneficial interest) 
and the Council 
(a)   under which goods or services are to be provided or works are 

to be executed; and 
(b)   which has not been fully discharged 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the Council’s area. 
 
For this purpose “land” includes an easement, servitude, interest or 
right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for you, your 
spouse, civil partner or person with whom you are living as a 
spouse or civil partner (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the 
land or to receive income. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
Council’s area for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 
 
(a)   the landlord is the Council; and 
(b)   the tenant is a body in which you, your spouse or civil partner 

or a person you are living with as a spouse or civil partner has 
a beneficial interest 

 
Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where – 

 
(a)   that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land 

in the Council’s area and 
(b)   either – 

i.   The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 

ii.   If the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, your spouse or civil partner or person with 



 

4 
 

whom you are living as a spouse or civil partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
For this purpose, “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture 
stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme 
within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 
 

NOTE: the requirements in respect of the registration and disclosure of Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests and withdrawing from participating in respect of any matter 
where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest apply to your interests and those 
of your spouse or civil partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or 
civil partner where you are aware of their interest. 

 
Access to Information 
Agendas and reports can be viewed on the Gloucester City Council website: 
www.gloucester.gov.uk and are available to view five working days prior to the meeting 
date. 
 
For enquiries about Gloucester City Council’s meetings please contact Democratic 
Services, 01452 396126, democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk. 
 
If you, or someone you know cannot understand English and need help with this information, or if 
you would like a large print, Braille, or audio version of this information please call 01452 396396. 
 
Recording of meetings 
Please be aware that meetings may be recorded. There is no requirement for those 
wishing to record proceedings to notify the Council in advance; however, as a courtesy, 
anyone wishing to do so is advised to make the Chair aware before the meeting starts.  
 
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, 
Officers, the Public and Press is not obstructed.  The use of flash photography and/or 
additional lighting will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by council 
staff. It is vital that you follow their instructions:  
▪ You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 
▪ Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 
▪ Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building; gather at the 

assembly point in the car park and await further instructions; 
▪ Do not re-enter the building until told by a member of staff or the fire brigade that it is 

safe to do so. 
 

http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


 

5 
 

Copyright Notice for viewing documents via Public 
Access 

 
Planning application information submitted to the Council is protected by the Copyright Acts 
(Section 47, 1988 Act). You may only use material which is downloaded and/or printed for 
consultation purposes, to compare current applications with previous schemes and to check 
whether developments have been completed in accordance with approved plans. Further 
copies must not be made without the prior permission of the copyright owner. If you link to 
Public Access you have acknowledged that you have read, understood and agree to the 
copyright and other limitations. 
 
Gloucester City Council reserve the right to remove or not display certain planning 
application information for the confidentiality or other reasons. 
 
 
 
 

HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
In compiling the recommendations on the following reports we have given full consideration 
to all aspects of the Human Rights Act 1998 in relation to the applicant and/or the occupiers 
of any affected properties. In particular, regard has been had to Article 8 of the ECHR 
(Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence); Article 1 of the First 
Protocol (Right to the use and enjoyment of property) and the requirement to ensure that 
any interference with the right in this Article is both in accordance with the law and 
proportionate. A balance needs to be drawn between the right to develop land in 
accordance with planning permission and the rights under Article 8 and also Article 1 of the 
First Protocol of adjacent occupiers. On assessing the issues raised by the applications no 
particular matters, other than those referred to in the reports, warrant any different action to 
that recommended.  
 
 
 
 
 

EQUALITY ACT 2010 
 
In considering this matter, full consideration has been given to the need to comply with the 
Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010 and in particular to the obligation to 
not only take steps to stop discrimination, but also to the promotion of equality, including the 
promotion of equality of opportunity and the promotion of good relations.  An equality 
impact assessment has been carried out and it is considered that the Council has fully 
complied with the legal requirements. 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING : Tuesday, 4th July 2023 
   
PRESENT : Cllrs. Taylor (Chair), Morgan (Vice-Chair), Bhaimia, D. Brown, 

J. Brown, Campbell, Conder, Dee, Gravells MBE, Sawyer, Toleman 
and Tracey 
 
Officers in Attendance 
Planning Development Manager 
Highways Officer, Gloucestershire County Council 
Senior Planner 
Locum Planning Lawyer, One Legal  
Democratic and Electoral Services Officer 
 
  
 

APOLOGIES : None.  
  
 

 
 

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair declared an interest in agenda item 5 (New Dawn View - 23/00280/OUT) 
owing to being employed by the local school. He took no part in any aspect of the 
item.  
  
Councillors D.Brown, Tracey and Gravells declared a non-prejudicial interest in 
agenda item 5 (New Dawn View - 23/00280/OUT) owing to being elected members 
of Gloucestershire County Council. 
  
 

9. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED - – that the minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 6th June 2023 
were confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

10. LATE MATERIAL  
 
Late Material was circulated in relation to agenda item 5 - New Dawn View 
(23/00280/OUT). 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

2 

11. NEW DAWN VIEW, GLOUCESTER - 23/00280/OUT  
 
Owing to having declared a prejudicial interest in the item, the Chair withdrew 
himself from the Chamber at the start of the item. The Vice-Chair chaired the item. 
  
  
The Planning Development Manager presented the report detailing an application 
for the erection of up to 30No. dwellings with all matters reserved (apart from 
access). 
  
  
The Chairman of Widden Old Boys RFC spoke in opposition to the 
application.  
  
He stated that the application should be rejected on the following grounds:  
  

-       He was speaking on behalf of both Widden Old Boys RFC and Old Cryptians 
RFC in opposition to the application.  

-       Granting the application would deprive up to 200 children from sporting 
opportunities each week due to the reduction of 1.8 hectares of open space. 

-       Sport England were inaccurate in their assessment that the site had no 
special significance to the interests of sport. 

-       The area from the North-East of the proposed site to Laburnum Road was 
used by children each Sunday from September to May for the purpose of 
playing Rugby Union.  

-       Widden Old Boys had roughly 100 youth members that would be deprived of 
Rugby Union. 

-       Old Cryptians RFC had roughly 200 members that would be deprived of 
Rugby Union. 

-       All age groups below 13 were based at Blackbridge Sports Field. The 
granting of the application would mean that they would not be able to train or 
play on the field anymore. This activity dated back to the 1990s and it was 
not financially viable to play elsewhere. 

-       The affected area was also used annually for one (sometimes two) 
tournament/s.  

-       The proposed conversion of the land would prevent 200 children a week and 
500-600 children during the annual tournament/s from playing Rugby Union. 

-       The catchment area was economically deprived, and the granting of the 
application would remove free rugby provision for children and young adults. 
This could not be considered to be in the best interest of the community.  

-       Blackbridge Community Land Trust had misrepresented the position of Old 
Cryptians and Widden Old Boys  

  
  

 A Planning Consultant representing the applicant spoke in favour of the 
application.  
  
The planning consultant said that the application should be granted on the following 
grounds:  
  

-       The application had been 7 years in the making. 

Page 8



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

3 

-       The application had been subject to rigorous public consultation  
-       The City Council had allocated the area for development in the adopted City 

Plan. 
-       The proposed community and sports hub had been approved at the previous 

Planning Committee meeting.  
-       The City Plan stated that the use of a small part of the site for residential 

development released the wider site to deliver significant net gains. 
-       The successful delivery of the Sports Hub was dependent on the application 

before the Committee being approved. 
-       The applicant would transfer the rest of the playing field to the City Council. 
-       A not for profit organisation to benefit the community would be set up to 

provide sports to the community 
-       The land in question was allocated in the City Plan for approximately 30 

dwellings and the application in front of the Committee was for “up to 30 
dwellings”. 

-       The application provided all the technical detail required. 
-       The application would provide 20% affordable housing. This was policy 

compliant. 
-       The application would provide bio-diversity net gain. 
-       The applicant would provide education and library contributions. 

  
  
The Planning Development Manager responded to Members’ questions concerning 
whether properties would be fronting the sports field, questions regarding the 
comments from the Public Right of Way officers, whether the playing pitch strategy 
was up to date, concerns raised about whether Sports England dictated the terms 
of the application, whether Members could go against the assessment of Sports 
England, whether Members could reject the application on the grounds that there 
would be a loss of playing pitch provision, whether the two rugby clubs who had 
objected could use the pitches once the application was completed and whether 
granting the application would deprive children and young adults from participating 
in sport as follows: 
  

-       Whilst there would be some loss in the quantity of sports pitches, the quality 
would be of a higher standard. The drainage would be far better, and it would 
be able to be used throughout the year.  

-       There was some confusion initially from the public right of way officer as she 
believed that the public right of way on the south side of the site was going to 
be replaced by the road but that this was not the case.   

-       The Playing Pitch Strategy had been updated, and the conclusion was that 
there was a need for the type of facility proposed in the area. It was allocated 
in the Playing Pitch Strategy. The impact of the loss of quantity of playing 
provision was replaced by the quality of what would replace it.  

-       Sports England did not dictate the application. They were a statutory 
consultee. The site was allocated in the City Plan, as was the adjacent site.  

-       If Sport England had objected to the scheme, it would be difficult to approve 
the application as they were a statutory consultee. If Members wished to 
refuse the application on the basis that a loss of playing pitch quantity 
outweighed the benefits, Members would be allowed to do so. However, the 
decision would be subject to an appeal. The comment from Sports England 
would be given significant weight. 

Page 9



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

4 

-       The site was allocated for development in the City Plan. If Members wished 
to go against the officer recommendation, there would need to be a sound 
planning reason for doing so and it would be difficult for it to be on the 
principle of development as it had been allocated and voted through by 
Members in the adopted City Plan. 

-        The site had been allocated for development in the adopted City Plan. 
-       Sports England did not approve the scheme as such, their comments were 

relating to the fact that they believed that the principle of development was 
acceptable. Equal or more weight should be given to the fact that the site 
was allocated in the adopted City Plan and there was a lot of evidence that 
went into that allocation. 

-       It was important to separate the fact that there was an amount of playing 
space being lost compared to the qualitatively better provision that would 
replace it. 

-       The two rugby Clubs (Widden Old Boys, Old Cryptians) who had objected 
would be allowed to use the grass pitches and could use the 3G pitch for 
training. He was unaware if they would have to pay to use the 3G pitch and 
this was outside of the scope of the application.  

-       There was no ‘depriving’ of sports provision, as what would replace it would 
improve the availability of sport provision throughout the year.  

-    Some properties would front onto the sports field. Further details would be 
provided by the applicant at the reserved matters stage. It was only the 
principle of access that was being considered in the outline stage.  

  
         
  
The Highways Officer responded to Members’ questions concerning the access 
road, whether traffic lights were being proposed as part of the application, concerns 
around safety at the junction and how much trip generation the application would 
create as follows:  
  

-       The access road was approximately 5.5 metres wide, the carriageway on the 
bridge was approximately 8 metres wide. There were cycle ways on the 
carriage way as well. 

-       There were no proposals for traffic lights at the junction. 
-       There were occasionally issues with getting out of the junction in heavy 

traffic, but that is not unusual for a busy urban area. 
-       The traffic generated by the application itself would generate 15 two-way 

vehicle movements in peak hours. This was unsubstantial.  
-       There was reduced visibility for drivers at the junction. However, for it to meet 

safety standards, drivers needed to be able to see at a driver’s eye level of 1 
metre and the junction did go beyond this minimum safety standard. 

  
  
Members’ Debate  
  
Councillor Conder noted that she understood the officer’s comment regarding the 
quality of the proposed sports pitches, but that, for rugby specifically, the quantity 
was more important as they could not play matches on artificial turf. She said that 
the housing would lead to an even greater demand for persons to play rugby and 
other sports and that the pressure on the area could be increased.  

Page 10



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

5 

  
Councillor Tracey raised concerns regarding the potential fronting of houses onto 
the field. 
  
Councillor Gravells noted that every Member voted for the City Plan which included 
the allocation of the site for development. Councillor Gravells noted that the 
speaker in opposition to the application spoke well but highlighted that the City Plan 
had gone through a rigorous consultation and had been scrutinised and approved 
by all Members.  
  
Councillor Tracey expressed concern about a loss of sports provision for children.  
  
The Vice-Chair noted that there had been a very thorough debate and noted that 
there had been numerous questions posed to the relevant officers. He said that it 
was clearly a difficult application, which was why it came to the Committee. He 
noted that it was an outline application, with the remainder of the detail to be 
provided at the reserved matters stage.  
  
The Vice-Chair proposed, and Councillor J.Brown seconded the officer’s 
recommendation. 
  
As the vote was tied, the Vice-Chair acting as Chair used his casting vote to 
approve the Officer’s recommendation. 
  
RESOLVED – that delegated authority was granted for officers to GRANT planning 
permission subject to no new substantive planning issues being received by 
06/07/2023 and subject to a S106 with the Heads of terms and conditions outlined 
in the officer report.  
  
 

12. LAND AT SNOW CAPEL, WINNYCROFT LANE, GLOUCESTER - 22/00519/FUL  
 
The Senior Planner presented the report detailing an application for a Residential 
development of 180 no. dwellings (Class C3); vehicular, pedestrian and cycle 
access from Winnycroft Lane; public open space and landscaping; drainage 
attenuation, acoustic barrier, and other associated works (Environmental Impact 
Assessment development). 

During his presentation, the Senior Planner highlighted the fact that since the 
publication of the agenda, an updated drainage strategy system had been 
submitted so the issues outlined in paragraph 18.5 of the report were no longer 
pertinent and could be disregarded as an objection.  

He highlighted the fact the public right of way would be redirected through the site.  

He stated that since the deferral of the application at the previous planning meeting, 
the applicant and officers had had numerous discussions regarding concerns about 
the application. He said that the applicant and the officers had agreed a revised 
Heads of Terms. He said that there had been more discussions about a Heritage 
Management Plan. He said that the City Archaeologist had suggested that Historic 
England, the applicant, and the Authority could enter into a Heritage Partnership 
Agreement. The applicant was content to enter discussions regarding this matter. 

Page 11



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

6 

The applicant had also provided a revised Heritage Plan. However, officers had not 
yet had a sufficient opportunity to examine it in depth. However, from the City 
Archaeologist’s point of view, a Heritage Partnership Agreement was a potential 
avenue that could make the application more appropriate, though it may have to be 
required through a S106 agreement or planning conditions. He also said that the 
applicant now proposed to provide a greater contribution to public open space 
provision, though they would reduce the amount they would spend on Education 
contributions. He concluded by stating that the recommendation was still for refusal 
for the reasons set out in the report.  

A local resident spoke in opposition to the application.  

He said that the application should be rejected on the following grounds:  

-          He asked the Committee to consider the impact the application would have 
on the local community. With the granting of other applications in the area, 
additional pressure had already been placed on local residents. The granting 
of the application would further add to this.  

-          The impact of other local developments (Winnycroft) should be assessed in 
further detail before judging the impact the application before the Planning 
Committee would have.  

-          There was a great crested newt colony in the scheduled ancient monument 
and the effect on them may be catastrophic.  

  
  

An operations director at Bromford spoke in favour of the application.  

He stated that the application should be granted on the following grounds: 

-          It was unique for an application of the one in front of the committee to have 
the support of so many community groups and people, including the Member 
of Parliament for Gloucester (Richard Graham MP)  

-          There would be a local lettings agreement that put Matson’s residents first. 
-          Bromford were committed to long term plan to protect the scheduled ancient 

monument  
-          They had increased their Public Space Provision contributions. 
-          The applicant would still contribute more than £1 million to education. 
-          The applicant had made changes to the Drainage design which can be dealt 

with via conditions. 
-          They had been collaborative throughout the process.  
-          The applicant had increased affordable homes contribution percentage from 

50% to 76%.  

  

  

Members’ Questions  

  

The Senior Planner responded to Members’ questions concerning the Great 
Crested Newt colony, whether the City Archaeologist’s  objection would remain if a 
Heritage Partnership Agreement was agreed, whether the proposed bond by the 
applicant would be sufficient to protect the monument, questions about how noise 

Page 12



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

7 

would be mitigated, how the Moat would be protected to ensure no one fell in, 
whether the public right of way officers objected to the application, whether there 
was a bridal path running through the site, whether Highways England had been 
consulted, whether there were other Heritage Partnership Agreements in 
Gloucester, whether there would be disruption to local residents during the 
construction phase and whether the Heritage Partnership Agreement would need to 
be secured via conditions as follows: 

-        Officers were aware of the Great Crested Newts on site. It had been 
reviewed by the Ecological Consultant and they were satisfied that the 
development would not affect the Newts. The applicant would have to secure 
a Great Crested Newt Licence prior to any development.  

-         The City Archaeologist’s objection to the application would remain even with 
a Heritage Partnership Agreement as he objected to the principle of 
development. However, the City Archaeologist was more satisfied with the 
application in comparison to the previous meeting. The applicant had 
recently submitted a revised Heritage Plan, but officers had not yet had an 
opportunity to thoroughly assess it. 

-       The applicant had put forward a bond (£50,000) for the protection of the 
scheduled ancient monument if it was needed to be drawn upon. This could 
be looked into in the partnership agreement. 

-       There would be a buffer of open space, paths will be mown in. There would 
be some restricted access, the applicant was overproviding in terms of 
Green Space (though the exact amount was debated with officers).   

-       The Moat would have to be secured to stop any member of the public falling 
in. There was currently fencing around the Moat. Some of the meadow 
planting around the site would also restrict access. There may have to be a 
condition to provide details of the long-term monitoring of the site.  

-       The public right of way officers were not objecting to the application.  
-       There was not a bridle path going through the site.  
-       There would be a creation of an acoustic bund between the new dwellings 

and the M5. 
-        Highways England were consulted but did not respond as the site did not 

encroach on their land. The acoustic bund would have to be maintained by 
the applicant.  

-       The applicant originally proposed maintaining the bund.  
-       There was a heritage partnership agreement with Llanthony Priory. 

Therefore, the idea of a heritage partnership agreement was not unique to 
the application before the committee.  

-       There would be some disruption during the construction phase. However, it 
could be dealt with Planning conditions.  

-       Based on the discussions with the City Archaeologist, the requirement for a 
Heritage Partnership Agreement would probably necessitate the need for a 
condition as well as well as it is forming a part of the S106 agreement.  
  

Members’ Debate 

  

Councillor J.Brown noted that there were objections from Historic England and 
several other parties to the application. She said that she was impressed with the 
speech from Councillor O’Donnell during the previous Committee meeting and that 

Page 13



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

8 

she understood that Matson required affordable housing. She said that however, 
quality housing should not come at the expense of everything else, including the 
scheduled ancient monument. She stated that she would vote in line with the officer 
recommendation for refusal.  

The Vice-Chair stated that he wanted to praise all those in involved in dealing with 
the application since the deferral at the previous Committee meeting. He said that a 
large amount of hard work had gone into seeking improvement and clarification of 
the matters that were of concern at the previous meeting. He said that the fact that 
the body of the Scheduled Ancient Monument itself would not be affected by the 
granting of the application was important. He said that he believed that the benefits 
of the application outweighed the effect it would have on the Scheduled Ancient 
Monument and that he would vote in favour of the application and against the 
officer recommendation. 

Councillor Dee stated that she was leaning towards being in favour of the 
application owing to the large percentage of affordable houses the scheme would 
provide.  

The Chair stated that he agreed with the points raised by the Vice-Chair. 

Councillor Gravells noted that he could not think of any greater public benefit for the 
area than 76% affordable housing and that he would be supporting the application 
and voting against the officer recommendation.  

The Chair moved, and the Vice-Chair seconded a motion to delegate permission to 
the Planning Development Manager to approve the application subject to conditions 
outlined in the report, agreed to by the Planning Development Manager and a S106 
agreement, as the adverse impact on the Scheduled Ancient Monument did not 
outweigh the benefits of the application.  

  

RESOLVED that: - delegation be granted to the Planning Development to approve 
the application subject to conditions outlined in the report, agreed to by the 
Planning Development Manager and a S106 agreement, as the adverse impact on 
the Scheduled Ancient Monument did not outweigh the benefits of the application.  

  

 
13. DELEGATED DECISIONS  

 
The Chair noted that the delegated decision list attached to the agenda was not 
complete and requested that at the next months Committee meeting, a full list of the 
April and May delegated decisions be provided. 
  
  
RESOLVED: - that the delegated decisions were noted.  
 

14. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Tuesday, 2nd August 2023.  
 

Page 14



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
04.07.23 

 

9 

 
Time of commencement:  6.00 pm  
Time of conclusion:  7.45 pm  

Chair 
 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



GLOUCESTER CITY COUNCIL - DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 
 

Committee: Planning 
  

Date: 1st August 2023 
  

Address/Location: Land off Matson Lane, Gloucester  
  

Application No: 22/00627/FUL 
  

Ward: Matson, Robinswood & White City 
  

Expiry Date: 27th August 2022 
  

Applicant: Gloucester City Homes 
  

Proposal: 
Construction of 9 no. residential apartments, change of use of existing School 
Lodge building to a community use (Use Class F2), open space, landscaping, 
SUDS, amended vehicular access, car parking and associated works. 

  

Report by: Adam Smith 
  

Appendices: 
Site location plan  
Site layout plan 

 
1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 
  
1.1 The application site comprises an area of land to the south east of Matson Lane extending from 

the edge of Matson Lane to the north west, to the boundary with the Cranwell Close residential 
properties to the south east. To the north east of the site is a residential property, then further 
east Taylor House which appears to be a supported housing complex, with a GP surgery 
adjoining on the plot. To the south west is Matson Park, notably at the northern edge a 
substantial pond used by a local angling club. The site itself comprises of an area of rough 
hardstanding and School Lodge and its garden on what is broadly the north west half of the 
site, and an area of trees and low level vegetation to the south east half. School Lodge is a two 
storey brick building historically associated with the nearby Grade 2* listed Matson House, 
close to the Matson Lane frontage of the site.  

  
1.2 The application is for the construction of a block of flats of 2 storey height, comprising of 9 

1-bed flats, and the conversion of the Lodge building to a community use. It should be noted 
that the Council is also considering a further, more recent proposal for the use of the Lodge 
building (see the history section below), and therefore its proposed use in this application may 
be out of date. Nevertheless the proposal in this application needs to be determined on its 
merits as submitted. The flat block would be sited broadly in the middle of the site, with a car 
park next to Matson Lane in the north western part. Vehicular access would be taken from the 
same position as existing, but with the access narrowed down, so as to reduce the carriageway 
width for pedestrians to cross. Although the application site red line area extends further to the 
south east towards Cranwell Close, no building works are proposed in this area and the 
existing vegetation and pathways would remain. 

  
1.3 The existing overgrown garden of the Lodge would be reduced back to provide the space for 

the car park and pedestrian access. The fence line to the west of the site access at Matson 
Lane would be cut back to allow for a visibility splay. North of the Lodge the existing path 
access to the park by the pond would be retained, as would the stone pillars demarking the 
earlier driveway to Matson House.  

  
1.4 There is a public right of way running broadly northwest/southeast through the site, connecting 

Matson Lane and the park at either end. In the proposal a realigned public pathway would link Page 17

Agenda Item 5



round the south west of the proposed block of flats, and connect to the existing footpaths to the 
south east. This would represent a slight diversion of the right of way (though still running 
through the site from Matson Lane to the park), formalising it broadly along the south west 
edge of the site. To the north east of the flat block an area would be enclosed by close boarded 
fencing to provide an associated amenity space. The proposed flat block is designed with 
frontages to either end as well as the longer south west facing side. Proposed materials are a 
red brick, with soldier course detailing, grey standing seam cladding detail and grey roof tiles, 
dark grey window and door frames. A refuse and recycling store is proposed close to the 
Matson Lane frontage off the car park. A cycle parking store is proposed in the ground floor of 
the building accessed from the rear garden. No alterations are proposed to the Lodge building. 
A bat house is proposed at the south western boundary between the car park and the pond, 
close to the Lodge. New planting is proposed at various points around the site.   

  
1.5 The application is referred to the Planning Committee because a s106 agreement is 

recommended and because the City Council is the owner of land within the site and objections 
have been received. 

 
2.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
19/01110/FUL Proposed development of 10 residential units 

(including 3 storey building comprising 9no. 1 
bedroom flats, and conversion of the existing 
curtilage listed lodge (curtilage to Grade 2_ listed 
building) to 1no. 2 bedroom house), open space, 
landscaping, sustainable drainage system, car 
parking and associated works. 

Withdrawn 
prior to 

determination 

 

19/01084/DSUF Footpath diversion* Pending  
19/01080/LBC Internal and external works to curtilage listed lodge 

(curtilage to Grade 2 listed building) 
Withdrawn 
prior to 
determination 

 

19/01202/FUL Proposed steel container to provide welfare 
facilities and storage for members of the Matson 
Anglers Society. 

Not 
proceeded 
with 

 

23/00106/FUL Change of use of existing lodge building into Cafe at 
ground floor (Use Class E) and Short Stay Holiday 
Accommodation unit (Use Class C1) at first floor 
with ground floor access included, to include the 
refurbishment of the existing fabric and single storey 
extension to rear.** 

Pending  

23/00107/LBC Internal and external works to Grade 2·* listed 
building, associated with conversion of existing 
lodge building into Cafe and Short Stay Holiday 
Accommodation, to include the refurbishment of the 
existing fabric and single storey extension to rear. 

Pending  

23/00316/DSUF Public footpath to be stopped up and in substitution 
an alternative highway be created over the land. 

Pending  

 
*19/01084/DSUF is effectively replaced by 23/00316/DSUF because it is a pre-cyber incident case 
to which we have had no access to case files. 19/01084/DSUF technically remains pending because 
the applicant has not withdrawn it but in practice is being addressed through the later application.  
 
 
3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
  
3.1 The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this application: 
  Page 18



3.2 National guidance 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance 

  
3.3 Development Plan 

Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (Adopted 11 December 
2017) 
Relevant policies from the JCS include: 

 
SP1 - The need for new development  
SP2 – Distribution of new development  
SD3 – Sustainable design and construction 
SD4 – Design requirements 
SD8 – Historic Environment 
SD9 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
SD10 – Residential development 
SD11 – Housing mix and standards 
SD12 – Affordable housing  
SD14 – Health and environmental quality 
INF1 –Transport network 
INF2 – Flood risk management 
INF3 – Green Infrastructure 
INF4 – Social and community Infrastructure 
INF6 – Infrastructure delivery 
INF7 – Developer contributions 

  
3.4 Development Plan 

Gloucester City Plan 
Gloucester City Plan (“City Plan”) was adopted January 2023 and forms the development plan 
alongside the JCS. The City Plan will deliver the JCS at the local level and provides policies 
addressing local issues and opportunities in the City.  
 
Policies: 
A1 – Effective and efficient use of land and buildings 
A6 – Accessible and adaptable homes 
C1 – Active design and accessibility 
C3 – Public open space, playing fields and sports facilities 
D1 – Historic environment 
D2 – Non designated heritage assets 
D3 – Recording and advancing understanding of heritage assets 
E1 – Biodiversity and geodiversity  
E3 – Green/blue infrastructure 
E4 – Flooding, sustainable drainage, and wastewater  
E7 – Trees, woodlands and hedgerows  
F1 – Materials and finishes 
F2 – Landscape and planting 
F3 – Community safety 
F6 – Nationally described space standards 
G1 – Sustainable transport and parking 
G2 – Cycling 
G3 - Walking  
G7 – Water efficiency 

  
3.5 Other Planning Policy Documents 

Gloucester Local Plan, Second Stage Deposit 2002  
Regard is also had to the 2002 Revised Deposit Draft Local Plan. This has been subjected to two 

Page 19



comprehensive periods of public and stakeholder consultation and adopted by the Council for 
development control purposes. The following “day-to-day” development management policies, 
which are not of a strategic nature and broadly accord with the policies contained in the NPPF, 
should be given some weight: 
  
SR2: Playing fields and recreational open space 

  
3.6 Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents: 

SuDS Design Guide 2013 
Waste Minimisation in Development Projects SPD 2006 
Designing safer places SPD 2008 
 
Gloucester City Council Open Space Strategy 2021-2026 
Townscape Character Assessment: Gloucester June 2019 
 
All policies can be viewed at the relevant website address:- national policies: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2   
Gloucester City policies: 
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/Pages/curr
ent-planning-policy.aspx  

 
4.0 CONSULTATIONS 
  
4.1 The Highway Authority initially objected but have since confirmed that the alteration to the 

access arrangement, seen in draft and as now formally submitted, resolves their concerns. The 
formal comments of the Highway Authority, including any required conditions, are awaited and 
will hopefully be advised to the Committee in late material papers.  

  
4.2 The Conservation Officer raises no objection overall and recommends approval.  
  
4.3 The City Archaeologist raises no objection subject to conditions to secure approval of a written 

scheme of archaeological investigation and its implementation.  
  
4.4 The Civic Trust considers acceptable.  
  
4.5 The Tree Officer seeks sufficient tree mitigation. An off site contribution alongside the on site 

mitigation is acceptable; the Open Spaces team has agreed that the off site planting sum is 
sufficient for the proposed mitigation.  

  
4.6 The Open Spaces Team raised no detailed comments but confirmed that they would undertake 

the vegetation works required in the park where straddling the boundary with the park and the 
site.   

  
4.7 The Council’s Ecology consultant raises no objection overall subject to conditions. They 

consider the bat mitigation is acceptable, they welcome the biodiversity net gain proposal, and 
they agree that with mitigation the proposal would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of 
the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. They propose conditions to secure; the bat roosting features in 
perpetuity; construction methods including a pre-works bat survey; an update of the bat 
inspection of the trees if necessary; a bat-sensitive lighting scheme; a habitat management plan; 
residents’ information pack about the Cotswold Beechwoods and alternative recreation 
opportunities. Also to secure direct footpath links to the park as part of the Beechwoods 
mitigation.  

  
4.8 Natural England raises no objection subject to the provision of the direct footpath link from the 

site to Matson Park, and provision of a residents’ pack of information about the sensitive local 
Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/Pages/current-planning-policy.aspx
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/Pages/current-planning-policy.aspx


sites and minimising impact.  
  
4.9 The Public open space consultant raises no objection in principle and recommends that the 

hard landscaping materials, and the rain garden and hedge planting are secured by condition, 
and also recommends alternative shrub planting and tree species. 

  
4.10 The Drainage Officer raises no objection subject to conditions to secure a detailed drainage 

strategy.  
  
4.11 Severn Trent Water raises no objection subject to conditions to secure a detailed drainage 

strategy. 
  
4.12 The Contaminated Land consultant raises no objection.  
  
4.13 The Environmental Health consultant raises no objection.  
  
4.14 The County Council (education & libraries) has not commented.  
  
4.15 The Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer considers the 9 units would assist delivery of 

housing supply but objects that the mix is not in accordance with need and would not create a 
mixed and balanced community. They also seek clarity over acceptable car and cycle parking 
and details on compliance with accessible and adaptable homes policy. They also object over 
the absence of private functional external amenity space for each unit. They seek to condition 
ground floor units to Building Regulations M4(2) standard plus 1 ground floor unit to M4(3) 
standard if granted.  

  
4.16 The Waste Team raises no objection but set out the storage and collection requirements for the 

applicant’s reference.  
  
4.17 The Public Rights of Way Team (County Council) raises no objection subject to the diversion 

being formalised via application and no obstruction of a footpath to occur.  
  
4.18 The Ramblers Association raises no objection subject to the right of way being legal diverted.  
 
5.0 PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS 
  
5.1 Neighbouring properties were notified and site and press notices published. Three objections 

have been received which may be summarised as follows: 
 
Building on a conservation area 
Loss of trees 
Impacts on wildlife and environment 
Extent of development 
Extent of notifications 
No objection to building on the land as long as it is what the area needs – the proposal is not.  
Objects to 1 bedroom flats being built on the land. Matson needs 3 or 4 bedroom houses not 1 
bedroom flats. 
Shouldn’t be any buildings built here.  
Scale of development. Out of place and crammed.  
Overlooking neighbouring gardens. 
Overlooking the school.  
Something needs to be done to stop fly tipping and disposal of drugs. Should be 2/3 houses not 
flats.  
Further reaching effects on economic and environmental developments in the surrounding 
areas.  

Page 21



Unfair for people who go to the pond to fish 
One of the representations refers to an online petition on change.org titled ‘stop Matson lake 
development’, which at last checking refers to having 114 signatures. 

  
5.2 The full content of all correspondence on this application can be viewed on:  

http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/Pages/public-acce
ss.aspx  

 
6.0 OFFICER OPINION 
  
6.1 Legislative background 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Local Planning 
Authority to determine planning applications in accordance with the Development Plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  

  
6.2 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) states that in dealing 

with a planning application, the Local Planning Authority should have regard to the following: 
a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application; 
b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and 
c) any other material considerations. 

  
6.3 The development plan consists of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core 

Strategy (JCS), the Gloucester City Plan and the partially saved 1983 City of Gloucester Local 
Plan. 

  
6.4 It is considered that the main issues with regards to this application are as follows: 

• Principle 
• Benefits of the proposal 
• Heritage 
• Design, layout and landscaping 
• Housing mix 
• Traffic and transport 
• Residential amenity and environmental health 
• Drainage and flood risk 
• Contaminated land 
• Environmental sustainability 
• Ecology 
• Economic and regeneration considerations 
• Planning obligations 

  
6.5 Principle – residential development 

The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate a 5 Year Housing Land Supply, 
with an appropriate buffer, against the relevant housing requirement. The JCS addresses 
housing supply and demand under Policies SP1 (The Need for New Development and SP2 
(Distribution of New Development) as well as within Part 7 (Monitoring and Review).  

  
6.6 The NPPF sets out that there will be a presumption in favour of Sustainable Development. For 

decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the 
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless:  
 

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed;  

or II. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the Page 22

http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/Pages/public-access.aspx
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/Pages/public-access.aspx


benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  
 

The NPPF clarifies that: ‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of 
housing, situations where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 
deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer..).’ 

  
6.7 At the time of writing, the Council is not able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. For the 

purpose of this application and in the context of paragraph 11 of the NPPF, including footnote 6 
the ‘tilted balance’ is engaged. For decision making this means approving development 
proposals unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 
The assessment of this and the wider balancing exercise is set out in the conclusion of the report. 

  
6.8 Policy SP1 of the JCS sets out the overall strategy concerning the amount of development 

required, and Policy SP2 sets out the distribution of new development. These two policies, 
combined with Policy SD1 on the economy, provide the spatial strategy for the plan. This 
strategy, together with its aims, is expressed in relevant policies throughout the plan and will be 
supported by forthcoming district plans and neighbourhood plans  

  
6.9 Specifically relating to residential development Policy SD10 of the JCS states that housing in the 

City area will be allowed  
• At sites allocated within the development plan and district plan  
• On unallocated sites on previously developed land in the existing built up areas of Gloucester 
City 
• It is infilling within the existing built up areas of the City of Gloucester  
• It is for affordable housing on a rural exception site  
• It is brought forward through community right to build orders  
• There are other specific exceptional/circumstances defined in a district plan. 

  
6.10 In terms of the broad principles of development, while the site is not allocated, it is within the built 

up area of the City in a sustainable site with access to local facilities and would boost the supply 
of homes in a sustainable location. Excepting the School Lodge building the site is not previously 
developed land however the main issue in this regard is considered to be the loss of public open 
space which is addressed later in the report. Where this is satisfied there is considered to be no 
in-principle objection against SD10.   

  
6.11 Principle – loss of Public open space 

Despite the rough hardstanding appearance of the north east part of the site, the proposals 
would be constructed on public open space. The site is designated public open space in the 2002 
Plan and in the 2023 City Plan. Policy SR2 ‘Playing fields and recreational open space’ of the 
2002 Second Deposit Local Plan remains relevant and opposes proposals involving loss of 
playing fields, formal and informal recreational open space and their ancillary facilities unless 
one of four criteria are met, relating to; development securing retention and improvement of 
available facilities; alternative provision of equivalent or better recreational standard in terms of 
quantity and quality is made available; a clear long term excess of provision in the area can be 
shown to exist; or the proposal is for an indoor sports facility, which would provide sufficient 
community benefit to outweigh the loss.   

  
6.12 City Plan Policy C3 protects existing public open spaces from redevelopment unless the 

following criteria are met;  
1. for public open spaces, an assessment demonstrated the site is of low value and of poor 

quality, with no opportunities for improvement and is surplus in terms of all functions that 
open space can provide.  

2. (is for playing fields and sports facilities);  
If the criteria above cannot be met: 

Page 23



3. The open space can be replaced by alternative provision of an equivalent or better quality 
and quantity in an accessible and appropriate location; or 

4. The proposal is ancillary development that would enhance existing facilities and not 
reduce or prejudice ongoing use; or 

The proposal affects land that is not suitable, or is incapable of forming an effective part of an 
open space and its loss would not prejudice ongoing use of the remainder. 

  
6.13 Paragraph 99 of the NPPF sets out that existing open space should not be built on unless;  

a. an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space to be 
surplus to requirements; or 

b. the loss from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or better 
provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  

c. the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which 
clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.  

  
6.14 The Council’s Open Space Strategy identifies the site as part of Matson Park, which is assessed 

overall as having low site quality, but high community and biodiversity value. The strategy also 
notes there being very few or no similar spaces nearby (within 10min walk). The analysis cites 
Matson Park as a space with high community value, high scarcity and high indices of multiple 
deprivation where sites should be prioritised for improvement and investment, to update existing 
facilities or provide new features. The analysis notes excellent mature trees, lake/stream, play 
features but worn out paths, etc, and that the site requires a well thought out management plan 
and investment in infrastructure, while preserving and enhancing the natural habitat.  

  
6.15 The site is also known by the Council to experience anti-social behaviour problems and has been 

marked for disposal. Given the nature and condition of the north east part of the site where the 
buildings and car park would be constructed it contributes only modestly to the function of the 
park and its loss would not prejudice use of the remaining part. While the loss of public open 
space would rarely be considered acceptable as a matter of principle, given the relative 
use-ability of this area for recreation and the associated anti-social behaviour issues, it is 
considered that qualitative improvements to the wider public open space, funded by a 
contribution from this application, would be an appropriate approach to compensate for a 
physical loss of space that would be caused, and this contribution could assist with some of the 
reported deficiencies in the Open Space Strategy. Equally the replacement of the problematic 
area and introduction of a use that would lead to increased natural surveillance of the immediate 
area would be a benefit in terms of designing out crime and the perceived safety of the nearby 
parts of the park. The proposal would not address the policy requirements above for replacement 
in terms of quantity, obviously a net loss of space would be caused. However it would not 
substantially harm the key points noted in the strategy for this open space and could assist in 
addressing the deficiencies mentioned.  

  
6.16 There is no standardised method for the Council calculating a mitigation scheme for loss of 

public open space. The Council does have an Supplementary Planning Document on new 
housing and open space. This is to deliver appropriate public open space (POS) alongside new 
development or secure funds for provision in lieu. Securing such sums for this scheme would 
allow qualitative improvements to the park commensurate with the scale of scheme. This would 
ensure the development did not create an additional unmet demand, and in practice given 
schemes of this size rarely deliver a POS contribution, it would represent a sum for qualitative 
improvements that is considered to be fairly related in scale and kind to the development. A 
financial contribution of £7587.63 has been agreed as mitigation for the loss of open space and it 
is proposed that this would fund qualitative improvements to Matson Park. The Council’s public 
open space consultant advises that this could fund a range of improvements including improving 
play equipment, upgrading footpaths, improving pitches, adding informal sports features, 
seating, or planting works.  

  
Page 24



6.17 The proposals do not directly comply with criteria a or b of paragraph 99 of the NPPF (albeit an 
informal assessment might conclude the land is surplus to requirements, and furthermore the 
proposal could result in equivalent quality by virtue of the financial sum offered, just not in terms 
of quantity given the physical loss of the land). Furthermore the proposal would not involve loss 
of sports pitch or formal play provision which are noted to be under provided for in the Open 
Space Strategy. Given the context of the proposal and the site conditions and local issues, this is 
considered to be a policy conflict of limited significance. The mitigation package and the benefits 
to natural surveillance of the park are considered to outweigh the harm associated with this 
conflict, and as such the alternative recreational provision would outweigh the loss of the current 
use and comply with criterion c.  Similar conclusions apply against City Plan Policy C3 and 2002 
Second Deposit Local Plan Policy SR2 in terms of limited utility and mitigation by funding for 
alternative provision/improving existing facilities while not prejudicing the use of the remaining 
open space.   

  
6.18 Overall, while normally the loss of public open space would rarely be considered acceptable, 

given the relative use-ability of this area and the associated anti social behaviour issues, in the 
context of a financial contribution to mitigate the demand of the new development for open space 
by enabling qualitative improvements, allied with the modest improvements to the park detailed 
by the applicant and commented on further later in the report, the loss of designated public open 
space is considered to be satisfactorily mitigated. The benefits and measures assessed to 
mitigate this should be secured by s106 agreement and conditions as appropriate.  

  
6.19 The scheme also proposes paths which rely on City Council land to link the paths within the site 

with the existing path network in the park. A contribution to secure this is discussed below and 
would contribute modestly to the park deficiencies in the path network. 

  
6.20 Principle – community use 

The uses proposed for the Lodge building would represent social and community infrastructure 
and JCS Policy INF4 deals with this. Policy INF4 sets out in relation to new community 
infrastructure that this should be centrally located to the population it serves and be easily 
accessible on foot and bicycle, and to have the potential to be well served by public transport. 
Flexible, multifunctional facilities are encouraged. The NPPF advocates ensuring an integrated 
approach to considering the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities and 
services, and planning positively for the provision and use of community facilities such as 
meeting places, cultural buildings and other local services to enhance the sustainability of 
communities.  

  
6.21 The site is at the edge of the denser areas of housing in the locality but still close by to many 

households and immediately opposite the primary school. Given the network of paths it would be 
easily accessible on foot and cycle, while there are bus routes along Matson Avenue/Norbury 
Avenue around 220m to the north east. The facility would be modest in scale. The applicant has 
said that the community facility would be multi-purpose and have an ancillary café, serving the 
Matson community, including the fishing community using the pond and would be open to visitors 
in general. (Note – the later application 23/00106/FUL expands on this but is not under 
consideration here and the proposals should be determined on their merits as they stand, even if 
it appears likely that a more recent, alternative proposal is more likely to be pursued). The 
building would be managed by the local community group ‘Together in Matson’. They have 
provided information on their aims as a community group including offering young people and 
other members of the community a safe place and constructive activities, offering support and 
advice, and responding to identified community needs.   

  
6.22 As such the site is considered an appropriate location relative to the community and the proposal 

would provide a multifunctional shared space that maximises benefits to the community given its 
modest size, and as such is compliant with Policy INF4. It is considered that this element of the 
proposal would comply with the policy context for community use.  

Page 25



  
6.23 Benefits of the proposal 

The proposal would lead to several benefits; 
- delivering housing in line with the government’s objectives of boosting housing delivery; 
- provide a community use;  
- increasing activity and natural surveillance in the area; 
- improve the environs of the park and provide enhanced linkages; 
- contribute to securing the future of a heritage asset (School Lodge). 
- formalise an unconstrained accessible footpath link through the site 

  
6.24 Heritage 

The 1990 Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act requires at section 66(1) that in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a listed building 
or its setting, the Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  In 
terms of heritage the NPPF requires Authorities to take account of the desirability of sustaining 
and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with 
their conservation, the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality, and the desirability of new 
development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. Great weight 
should be given to the conservation of the designated heritage asset; the more important the 
asset the greater the weight should be. Any harm or loss should require clear and convincing 
justification; substantial harm to or loss of assets of the highest significance such as scheduled 
monuments should be wholly exceptional. Tests are set out if ‘substantial harm’ or ‘less than 
substantial harm’ to a designated heritage asset are identified. The NPPF requires appropriate 
desk-based assessment and where necessary a field evaluation to assess possible impacts on 
archaeology. It also requires developers to record and advance understanding of the 
significance of any heritage assets to be lost in a manner proportionate to their importance and 
the impact, and to make this evidence publicly accessible. 

  
6.25 Policy SD8 of the JCS sets out that heritage assets and their settings will be considered and 

enhanced as appropriate to their significance. Development should aim to sustain and enhance 
their significance and put them to viable uses consistent with their conservation whilst improving 
accessibility. Proposals that secure the future conservation and maintenance of heritage assets 
and their settings that are at risk through neglect, decay or other threats, also those that bring 
vacant or derelict heritage assets back into appropriate use, will be encouraged. 

  
6.26 Policies D1 and D2 of the City Plan reflect the guidance in the NPPF and JCS in respect of 

designated and non-designated heritage assets respectively. Policy D1 sets out that proposals 
must conserve the character, appearance and significance of designated and non designated 
heritage assets and sets out a list of criteria. Furthermore that great weight will be given to the 
conservation of designated heritage assets regardless of the level of harm, which should require 
clear and convincing justification. Policy D2 sets out that development affecting non designated 
assets or their setting should protect and where appropriate enhance its significance. Where 
harm is likely the scale of impact and significance of asset will be considered, and sets out 
criteria for proposals. Policy D3 requires developers to record and advance the understanding of 
the significance of a heritage asset prior to or during development where development would 
reveal, alter or damage it. 

  
6.27 Built heritage 

The School Lodge building is historically associated with Matson House which is nearby to the 
south west. Matson House is a grade 2* listed building built c1575. The Lodge dates from the 
early to mid 1800s and was formerly an entrance lodge for the main house. The driveway that 
connected the two buildings no longer exists; the remaining stone piers next to Matson Lane 
mark the drive entrance. The Lodge is curtilage listed by association with the main house. The 

Page 26



applicant’s heritage analysis concludes that given its condition and the loss of the drive, the 
Lodge, as part of the last phase of improvements undertaken at Matson House is considered to 
make only a small positive contribution to its significance. Furthermore that the Lodge has fallen 
into disrepair and its restoration and the prospect of ongoing sensitive usage and maintenance 
would improve the contribution it makes to the significance of Matson House. 

  
6.28 The proposed new build flat block has now been reduced down to two storeys following 

Conservation Officer feedback on the earlier application for a 3 storey building. It would be 
around 22m away from the Lodge at their closest points. It would be perceived in some views of 
the Lodge, notably from Matson Lane, and alter these views in so far as they allow interpretation 
of the Lodge as an isolated entrance marker to the historic estate. However it would not alter any 
key views of Matson House itself nor significantly change any designed views from the house. 
The substantial vegetation in the vicinity serves a significant screening function in that regard. 
The applicant concludes that the overall impact of the application on built heritage would be ‘less 
than substantial’ and at the lower end of this grading.  

  
6.29 The Conservation Officer considers that because of its location the new build flat block would 

inevitably impact on the setting of the curtilage listed School Lodge and on the wider setting of 
the grade 2* listed Matson House and its grade 2 stable. The harm is between the lower end and 
middle of less than substantial harm.  

  
6.30 Archaeology 

Archaeological trenching has been undertaken and has demonstrated the presence of 
archaeological remains of possible early medieval date within the site. Similar remains and 
evidence for a Roman settlement have been found nearby. As such groundworks associated 
with the development could damage or destroy heritage assets.  

  
6.31 Provided a written scheme of investigation for archaeological remains is secured by condition, 

the City Archaeologist is happy for development to proceed. The impacts can therefore be 
satisfactorily mitigated and the above policy would be complied with for buried heritage.  

  

6.32 Heritage conclusions 
There would therefore be less than substantial harm to heritage assets. In accordance with the 
NPPF and Section 66(1) of the 1990 Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act, special regard 
and great weight have been given to the asset’s preservation in the assessment. The harm is not 
substantial and in contributing to the potential for the Lodge’s future security the proposals also 
lead to a benefit to it. The public benefits set out earlier including the provision of housing, 
improving the environs of the park and contributing to addressing a local issue are considered 
substantial. It is therefore considered that the public benefits outweigh the harm identified. The 
Conservation Officer’s conclusions concur that the benefits are greater than the harm caused to 
the setting of the listed buildings. The requirements of Section 66 of the 1990 Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas Act are satisfied, the proposals comply with the NPPF, and while there is 
some conflict with the  local plan policy context which requires proposals to conserve the 
significance of heritage assets (and there being harm in this instance), the public benefits are 
considered to outweigh this harm.  

  
6.33 Design, layout and landscaping 

The NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, and sets out 
criteria for decision making including ensuring that developments are visually attractive, 
sympathetic to local character and history while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation or change, establish/maintain a strong sense of place, optimise the potential of the 
site to accommodate an appropriate amount and mix of development, and create safe, inclusive 
accessible places.   

  
6.34 JCS Policy SD4 sets out requirements for high quality design, including responding positively to 

Page 27



and respecting the character of the site and surroundings, and being of a scale and materials 
appropriate to the site and setting. Design should establish a strong sense of place and have 
appropriate regard to the historic environment. Policy SD10 seeks housing of the maximum 
appropriate density compatible with good design, the protection of heritage assets, local 
character and compatible with the road network.  

  
6.35 Policy A1 of the City Plan includes requirements for development to achieve overall 

improvements to the built and natural environment, be of suitable scale and not have a significant 
adverse impact on character or the street scene, provide appropriate bin storage and create and 
support healthy living conditions. Policy C1 requires development to meet the highest possible 
standards of accessible and inclusive design. Policy E7 requires biodiversity net gain on site (or 
a suitable alternative) if there is unavoidable significant adverse impact on trees, woodland or 
hedgerows, and tree protection measures during development. Policy F1 requires high quality 
architectural detailing, external materials and finishes that are locally distinctive, and 
developments to make a positive contribution to the character and appearance of the locality. 
Innovative modern materials will be encouraged where they strongly compliment local 
distinctiveness. Policy F2 requires hard surfacing, boundary treatments and planting to be 
appropriate to the location, and incorporate existing natural features where possible, and ensure 
adequate space for trees to mature. Policy F3 requires development to be designed to ensure 
that community safety is a fundamental principle.  

  
6.36 The proposals have been amended to reduce the scale from 3 to 2 storeys from the earlier 

scheme. There is a mix of building types and scales in the immediate vicinity and the two storey 
scale now proposed is considered appropriate and the change is welcomed. The use of a red 
brick with modern cladding is also considered appropriate; there are a variety of materials used 
locally, with the Lodge as the closest reference point having a red/orange brick. The waste 
storage building is a less attractive addition at the site entrance but has to be there due to the 
collection requirements and would avoid a proliferation of bins around the entrance, and 
proposed in a stained black timber cladding so should hopefully be a recessive feature into the 
background vegetation when seen at the site frontage.   

  
6.37 The revised design, now incorporating active frontage and windows facing north west to the car 

park, south west to the public footpath and beyond to the immediate north part of Matson Park. 
and south east to the existing footpaths through the near edge of the park, is also welcomed, 
providing a more attractive public-facing built frontage and significantly benefitting natural 
surveillance of the immediate surroundings.  

  
6.38 The footpath would be lit by the proposed external lighting to the flat block. This is an existing 

pedestrian route, but the lighting and the immediate natural surveillance would aid the attraction 
of this route and perception of safety. The footpath route has also been improved by marking the 
way in a change in surface materials through the car park. The link through the site by the Lodge 
to the existing path alongside to the pond would also be retained. 

  
6.39 Soft landscaping/trees 

The proposals would result in a loss of 3 category B trees and removal or part removal of 5 
category C tree groups or hedges. This is a modest loss in the context of the substantial tree 
cover on and adjacent to the site and the retained tree cover along the site edges and in the 
south eastern part. Furthermore the loss would be compensated for by the planting of four new 
trees adjacent to the car park and in the park, within the red line, plus the biodiversity net gain 
proposals also include a payment for planting of a species rich hedge and 3 trees in the adjacent 
park outside the red line. The works overall would not harm the landscaped character of this site 
or the northern part of the park. The retained tree cover would serve to give a mature, greened, 
and attractive context to the development and maintain the heavily planted character of the 
surroundings. Provided tree protection measures are secured by condition as well as a detailed 
landscaping plan and its implementation, the proposal would comply with the above policy 

Page 28



context.   
  
6.40 The trees and overgrown area towards the northeast boundary was previously proposed to be 

fenced off and the applicant confirmed in discussions that they would maintain the area and are 
happy to accept a condition to this effect. In the later revisions the fencing has been removed and 
the area appears more naturally to be a part of the site. As such this area should not end up as 
‘left over land’. Furthermore the landscaping proposals have been improved with hedgerow 
planting along the edges and additional native species proposed along the northern boundary 
where required. The works to pare back the vegetation at the south western edge of the site 
bordering the park to benefit natural surveillance from the flats into the open space would not be 
harmful to the landscape character of this part of the park and have been subject to detailed 
discussion with the Council’s landscape and open space consultant. The detailed comments of 
the consultant about the planting specification could be dealt with under condition.  

  
6.41 Landscape and visual impact 

The site was designated as a landscape conservation area in the second deposit 2002 Local 
Plan and the associated policy sought to prevent development where it would detract from the 
designated area’s landscape qualities and character. This designation and policy is now 
superseded and a new approach to landscape considerations has come forward in national and 
local policy. Policy SD6 of the JCS sets out the requirements for considering the landscape 
impact of new development and stresses the importance of reference to the Landscape 
Character assessments which are a key factor in design of developments and assessing their 
impacts. The policy seeks to protect the landscapes of highest quality and those most sensitive 
to new development.  

  
6.42 The site is outside the areas examined in the JCS landscape characterisation assessment and 

sensitivity analysis as the most sensitive areas. The applicant has however submitted a 
landscape visual impact assessment. The submitted assessment concludes that the 
development would be entirely in keeping with the local landscape character and would not result 
in any material landscape or visual effects. Its recommendations include planting to the south 
west edge (in front of the new flat block) as a planting edge to aid the landscape context. As 
already noted the vegetation screening is also a factor in the heritage considerations in relation 
to the visual connection with Matson House. However there are competing issues here as the 
anti social behaviour problems experienced in this locality should ideally be addressed as part of 
this proposal in the interests of designing out crime and appear to be an underlying aspiration of 
the project to do something with this land. Increased natural surveillance of the immediate area in 
front of the flats is considered to be a significant benefit in this regard (and strongly encouraged 
by the landscaping and open space consultant who knows the park well) and it is considered to 
outweigh the modest harm arising from sensitively opening up views of the flat block within the 
context of the enclosed northern part of the park and the setting of Matson House. It is not 
considered that the limited opening up of the vegetated edge of the park here and partial views of 
the building would cause harm to the character of the area sufficient to outweigh the design 
benefit of the improved surveillance from vegetation reduction. Overall it is considered that the 
revised landscape proposals for this edge strike an appropriate balance between natural 
surveillance, landscape character and heritage impact. The applicant has confirmed that they 
would seek input from an arboriculturist to advise on crown lifting and thinning out this section of 
vegetation. As the area of vegetation here straddles the site boundary I have discussed with the 
Open Spaces Team and they are happy with undertaking works to the City Council land here to 
complete the exercise.  

  
6.43 Housing mix 

Policy SD11 seeks an appropriate mix of dwelling sizes, types and tenures to contribute to mixed 
and balanced communities. Development should address the needs of the local areas set out in 
the local housing evidence base including the most up to date Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA).  It also requires housing to meet and where possible exceed appropriate 

Page 29



minimum space standards, and be accessible and adaptable as far as compatible with local 
context and other policies. Policy A6 of the City Plan requires 25% of units to be to Building 
Regulations requirement M4 (2) – accessible and adaptable dwellings (“Category 2”), and 4% of 
any affordable housing component to be to Building Regulations requirement M4 (3) - wheelchair 
user dwellings (“Category 3”). 

  
6.44 The unit sizes proposed are influenced by the fact that the development is solely for flatted 

accommodation, and a scheme for large houses would likely affect the viability of the scheme 
and reduce the density achieved on the site.  

  
6.45 The Housing Strategy Team considers that proposing solely 1 bedroom units does not meet 

current housing need, with the Matson area lacking larger family housing. The applicant has 
responded to this criticism and noted that they are an affordable housing provider and have 
discussed housing need across the city with the Housing Team on multiple occasions. The 
applicant has been clear, that in bringing forward difficult, brownfield sites the delivery of a policy 
compliant mix on every site is often impossible. They consider a broader view should be taken 
therefore on how developments, including the applicant’s developments across Gloucester, 
collectively address housing need and not individual sites. Site constraints have led to the 
current design. Furthermore that in terms of accessibility, the removal of internal bin store has 
allowed them to achieve a larger more accessible unit to M4(3) standards.  

  
6.46 The City Plan proposes a range of enhanced standards for residential accommodation. Policy A6 

requires 25% of units to be to Building Regulations requirement M4 (2) (accessible and 
adaptable dwellings; “Category 2”). The applicant has asserted that the ground floor flats achieve 
M4(2) standard. This would be 4 of the 9 so would meet the 25% policy requirement. 

  
6.47 Policy A6 also requires 4% of the affordable housing component to be to Building Regulations 

requirement M4 (3) - wheelchair user dwellings (“Category 3”). None of the units are offered as 
affordable housing through planning and the scheme is below the 10 unit threshold to require 
this. Nevertheless the alteration to the layout to remove the waste store from inside the building 
has allowed an enlarged flat 2 as an M4(3) unit and this is welcome.  

  
6.48 While the concerns raised in responses to this application about the profile of housing needed in 

the ward are acknowledged, the Council needs to consider the scheme brought forward by the 
developer and presumably they consider it likely to be occupied in short order. It is 
acknowledged that the Housing Strategy team considers that there are higher-priority needs in 
the ward that development of this site could address. While that would be an ideal option from 
their perspective the applicant has declined to do so and the application now needs to be 
determined as it stands. At this small scale of development it is not considered that the proposal 
would cause significant detriment to the profile of housing delivery brought forward overall in the 
area (e.g. in the context of the hundreds of units in the Winneycroft Lane developments further 
southeast in Matson). It would also provide a modest contribution to housing need, in the context 
of the lack of a 5 year supply and the clear statement in the NPPF of the government’s objective 
of significantly boosting the supply of homes. Lack of private amenity space is an acknowledged 
negative aspect, though with upper floor flats balconies would be the only option and are not part 
of the design. There is however a garden to rear and Matson Park is immediately adjacent. 
Overall while provision of a solely 1-bedroomed scheme is a negative aspect of the proposal 
when considered strictly against the housing needs assessment, at the scale of provision it 
would not significantly compromise housing delivery overall. It is considered to be a negative 
aspect of the development of limited weight and is not considered to be of such substantial harm 
to outweigh the benefits of the scheme.  

  
6.49 Traffic and transport 

The NPPF requires that development proposals provide for safe and suitable access for all and 
that development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual 

Page 30



cumulative impacts of development are severe. Policy INF1 of the JCS requires safe and 
accessible connections to the transport network, and sets out that permission will be granted 
only where the impact of development is not considered to be severe. Policy G1 of the City Plan 
sets out that in all development on street space designed and allocated for pedestrians, cyclists, 
mobility users and deliveries, and bus stops and bus priority measures, will be prioritised over the 
parking of private vehicles. It also sets out the approach to car and cycle parking levels. Policy 
G2 requires all developments to provide safe and secure access by cycle. Policy G3 supports 
development that protects and enhances convenient, safe and pleasant walking environments, 
and improvement of walking routes to sustainable transport hubs. New public realm 
development should reflect pedestrians being at the top of the road user’s hierarchy. Proposals 
that disrupt walking desire lines, reduce the pedestrian legibility or reduce pedestrian 
connectivity will not generally be supported. Policy A1 requires adequate off-street parking, 
access, and covered and secure cycle storage.  

  
6.51 At the time of writing the Highway Authority’s updated comments are awaited, although the 

Highways Officer has informally indicated that their previous concerns are resolved, and the 
following section is based on that feedback. Their formal position will hopefully be reported in late 
material papers.   

  
6.51 Accessibility 

The site is in a sustainable location with a range of facilities, and walking, cycling and public 
transport routes, in the vicinity. Bus stops for routes to the city centre are within 300 and 440m to 
the north east. A school, shops and doctor’s surgery are all within 500m.   

  
6.52 Access 

Vehicular access would be off Matson Lane which has a temporary 20mph speed limit when 
signalled by the warning lights, given the presence of the school opposite. There are footways on 
both sides of the road. There are double yellow lines on the opposite side of the road and to the 
west of the entrance on the nearside. The access would be provided in the same position as the 
existing entrance, but adapted such as to narrow it down. This design gives some protection to 
pedestrians and emerging/entering vehicles would need to slow to use the access. The 
application site has been altered to now include the wedge of land inside the park at the Matson 
Lane boundary that is required to achieve the full visibility splay. This can be secured by 
condition. The amended scheme addresses the refuse collection requirement (given the car park 
area would be private) by siting a bin store adjacent to the Matson Lane access so on-road 
collection can take place. In terms of maintenance access to the park via the current site, I am 
advised by the Open Space team that there is a second access to the park for maintenance 
vehicles. Given the likely high pedestrian movements, a road safety audit has been undertaken 
and, and has been considered by the Highway Authority. No outstanding issues are raised by the 
proposals. The Highway Authority has indicated that the access design is suitable.  

  
6.53 Trip generation 

The application sets out that the development would generate up to 2 vehicle movements (2 
way) in both AM and PM peaks, and a total of 18 2 way movements throughout the day. This 
would not be a significant impact on the highway. The Highway Authority has considered the 
location being in close proximity to the school and the raised crossing point.  

  
6.54 Car parking 

9 spaces are proposed (including 2 electric vehicle spaces), plus a further 2 spaces (for visitors 
to either the residential or the community use) as disabled access spaces close to the Lodge. 
The Highway Authority has indicated that the quantum of parking is suitable.   

  
6.55 Cycle parking 

5 stands (10 spaces) are shown in the storage room for the flats. The applicant has relocated the 
access to the cycle store to the rear off the garden area rather that the public path and the 

Page 31



provision is now considered to be suitable secure and attractive to use by residents. The 
Highway Authority has also indicated that this provision is suitable. No cycle parking is currently 
shown for the Lodge. The applicant has previously shown 3 stands which is considered 
reasonable provision given the size, but following discussions about the best place to site them 
for natural surveillance and encouraging use they have asked for this to be dealt with 
subsequently. It is also potentially part of discussions in the later updated applications for the 
Lodge by the community group. There is sufficient space available and it is considered that 
requiring provision by condition is reasonable.  

  
6.56 The public footpath 

Public footpath SM/39 Gloucester runs between Matson Lane at its north western end, south 
east through Matson Park and ends close to Marlestone Close. The north west end of this 
footpath runs through the site. The proposed flat block would in effect obstruct the current 
alignment of the footpath although it is difficult to translate the exact route on the map when 
compared to on the ground. The effect of development on a public right of way is a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications. There is a separate procedure to the 
planning application for diversion or extinguishment of rights of way and the planning decision 
does not mean that a footpath diversion order will always be approved. Section 257 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 grants powers to Local Planning Authorities to make public path 
orders for the diversion or stopping up of footpaths, bridleways or restricted byways, if they are 
satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to enable development to be carried out. The NPPF 
sets out that decisions should protect and enhance public rights of way and access, including 
taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users. The NPPG sets out that public rights of 
way form an important component of sustainable transport links and should be protected or 
enhanced. The Defra Rights of Way Circular 1/09 sets out the need for adequate consideration 
of the rights of way before the decision on the planning application is taken, if an alternative way 
is to be provided it should link via highway to the original, for continuity.   

  
6.57 The proposal would retain the same basic position of the route and its onwards connections. 

While the preference for a footpath route ideally may be a soft landscaped or open space 
pathway away from vehicular traffic, at present it goes through a hardstanding area understood 
to be used ad hoc for parking anyway, and the proposed arrangement would formalize the route. 
Changes in the revised plans to open out the corner around the building and distinguish the route 
through a change in surface materials through the car park are welcomed. The footpath would 
run slightly closer to the retained Lodge building, if planning permission were granted and 
implemented. It is understood that this building may have been a dwellinghouse previously, while 
the proposal for it in this application is for a community use, and furthermore there is now a new 
application to use it for a café and holiday let. It is not considered that the new route would  
have a significant adverse impact on occupants in any of these potential uses, nor would they 
adversely affect the route in its changed alignment. The new route would continue to provide the 
same exit points at either end, and would not make it significantly more convoluted. Overall it 
would retain an adequate right of way. Neither the PROW team at the County Council nor the 
Ramblers raised an in-principle objection to the application and a formal application for its 
diversion is pending. As such consideration has been given to the rights of way in determining 
this application. It is necessary to divert the footpath to enable the development to take place. 
There are no significant negative impacts of the proposed footpath diversion. 

  
6.58 Traffic and transport conclusion 

Based on discussions about the scheme and the last informal feedback of the Highway Authority, 
subject to conditions the proposal would not lead to a severe residual impact on the highway and 
would comply with the above policy context in terms of traffic and transport.  

  
6.59 Residential amenity and environmental health 

The NPPF sets out that decisions should ensure development is appropriate for its location 
taking into account effects of pollution on health and living conditions, and should mitigate and 

Page 32



reduce to a minimum adverse impacts from noise, and avoid noise giving rise to significant 
adverse impacts on health and quality of life. It also requires planning decisions to sustain and 
contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants. 
Furthermore it seeks to ensure that new development integrates with existing businesses and 
facilities – which should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of 
development permitted after they were established. Policy SD14 of the JCS requires that new 
development must cause no harm to local amenity including the amenity of neighbouring 
occupants. Policy SD14 of the JCS also requires development to cause no unacceptable levels 
of pollution with respect to national and EU limit values. Policy C5 of the City Plan requires that in 
areas near schools development which reduces tree cover, hedges and other vegetation will be 
expected to make provision for a net gain in vegetation onsite/within the buffer zone. 

  
6.60 Impact on neighbouring occupants 

Existing residential properties in the vicinity of the application site are the following: 
  
6.61 Cranwell Close 

These are two storey properties to the south east of the site, with rear gardens to the near side of 
the properties. There would be a 40m separation at the closest point of the proposed building to 
the boundary of the neighbouring residential garden, and 48m to the neighbouring house itself. 
At this distance and given the scale, orientation and tree cover between, the proposed 
development would not cause harm by virtue of overlooking, overbearing, overshadowing or loss 
of light effects. 

  
6.62 The Rectory (residential property to northeast) 

This property is at least 22m away from the proposed building, to the north east of it. The 
boundary with its garden would be around 8.5m away. There is a substantial line of tree cover 
along the shared boundary that would be retained. The tree survey shows most of these trees in 
the adjacent property although it appears from visiting the site and from the Council’s property 
mapping that the occupants have erected their own fence inside this line. With this tree line in 
between, the development would be substantially screened from this neighbouring property 
anyway. It is not considered that the development would be overbearing. It is possible that views 
could be afforded from the upper floors of the proposed development towards this neighbouring 
property including to the near edge of its garden and these upper floor windows are to the main 
living spaces of the flats here. However, any views are likely to be substantially inhibited by the 
boundary tree cover. Furthermore, the neighbouring garden is large, and the overall effect on 
privacy is not likely to be of significant harm. No objection has been received from residents on 
such matters. While the proposed development is to the south/south west of the neighbouring 
garden, given the scale of development, boundary vegetation and the size of the neighbouring 
garden, any effect due to overshadowing is likely to be limited and not significantly harmful to 
living conditions. At the separation distance and with the boundary vegetation it is not likely to 
cause harm by loss of light. The external lighting plan shows the light spill decreasing to 1.0 lux 
well before the house itself and with the tree cover a significant amenity impact is unlikely.  

  
6.63 Taylor House 

It appears from the Council’s mapping data that this is a communal residence with a separate 
flat. There would be around 31m separation distance between the buildings. The proposed 
building would be around 10m from the shared boundary. There appears to be a car park area to 
the near side of the Taylor House site. Given the separation, orientation, boundary vegetation 
and use of the adjacent land, the proposal would not cause harm by overlooking, 
overshadowing, loss of light or overbearing impacts.  

  
6.64 No other residential properties would be adversely affected by the proposals. A representation 

mentions impact on people who go to the pond to fish but it is not clear what this impact would be. 
The reuse of the Lodge would appear to provide an associated convenience for those people 
visiting the pond.  

Page 33



  
6.65 Construction works 

Given the nature of the proposed works and their proximity, the residents of these premises 
could be affected by disturbance from construction, so a standard hours of work condition is 
recommended. 

  
6.66 Air quality 

The site is in the ‘schools 50m air quality buffer zone’ on the City Plan proposals map. Policy C5 
is applicable and requires the development to provide a net gain in vegetation onsite/within the 
buffer zone. The proposed tree mitigation set out above would address this. No air quality 
objection is raised.  

  
6.67 Future residents 

Policy F6 of the City Plan relates to Nationally described space standards and the application 
complies with these. The properties are all 1 bedroom 2 person flats, and are all above the 
overall floorspace standard for units. The properties also comply with the associated bedroom 
sizes and storage requirements. There do not appear to be any nearby uses or local 
circumstances that would lead to unacceptable living conditions for future residents on this site, 
including the proposed new use of School Lodge. 

  
6.68 Overall subject to conditions the proposals would create an acceptable living environment for 

future residents, and not harm the living conditions of other residents in the vicinity or cause any 
other significant environmental harm. The proposal complies with the above policy context.  

  
6.69 Drainage and flood risk 

The NPPF requires that development is directed to the areas at lowest risk of flooding, that new 
development should take the opportunities to reduce the causes or impacts of flooding, should 
not increase flood risk elsewhere and take account of climate change. Policy INF2 of the JCS 
reflects the NPPF, applying a risk based sequential approach, requiring new development to 
contribute to a reduction in flood risk and requiring the use of sustainable drainage systems. 
Policy E4 of the City Plan sets out a similar approach to making development safe, avoiding an 
increase in flood risk, the sequential and exception tests, requiring Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, incorporating climate change considerations, facilitating benefits to watercourses and 
floodplains, maintaining a buffer strip for maintenance and ecology.  

  
6.70 According to the Environment Agency flood map the site is within Flood Zone1, the lowest risk. 

As such no sequential test is needed and there are no concerns about flood risk. Similarly the 
surface water flood mapping does not indicate any significant risk.        

  
6.71 Drainage proposals 

Separate foul and surface water systems would be provided. The surface water system would 
include permeable paving with storage as part of the car park, with a restricted outfall to the 
adjacent pond that the Drainage Officer advises is acceptable (it is understood that the Council 
has agreed to this arrangement subject to an annual service charge – this would be outside the 
planning application). Rain gardens would be used to pick up roof drainage, with an outlet pipe to 
the permeable paving. Water quality aspirations would be met by the SuDS proposal. The broad 
strategy is considered acceptable subject to re-evaluating the proposed discharge rate. It is 
recommended that the usual condition to secure approval of the detailed drainage design is used 
to also require details of remedial works to the pond edge given the apparent poor state of the 
timber edging. In terms of foul drainage the proposals is to discharge to the sewer south east of 
the site. 

  
6.72 Subject to conditions to secure final details of the foul and surface water drainage, the proposals 

would comply with the above policy context.  
  

Page 34



6.73 Contaminated land 
The NPPF requires decisions to enhance the environment by remediating and mitigating 
contaminated land where appropriate, and ensure that a site is suitable for the proposed use 
taking account of ground conditions and any risks, and that after remediation as a minimum the 
land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land. Responsibility for 
securing a safe development rests with the developer/landowner. Policy SD14 of the JCS 
requires that development does not result in exposure to unacceptable risk from existing or 
potential sources of pollution, and incorporate as appropriate the investigation and remediation 
of any contamination.   

  
6.74 The contaminated land consultant does not anticipate a ground contamination issue with the 

proposal given the historical records. The proposal would comply with the above policy context. 
  
6.75 Environmental sustainability 

The NPPF supports the transition to a low carbon future and contributing to reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions. It expects developments to take account of landform, layout, building 
orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption. Policy SD3 of the JCS 
requires all developments to demonstrate how they contribute to the principles of sustainability 
by increasing energy efficiency. Proposals will be expected to achieve national standards. The 
NPPF and the JCS encourage electric vehicle charging points although they are now picked up 
by Building Regulations. Policy G7 of the City Plan requires proposals to demonstrate that the 
estimated consumption of wholesome water per dwellings should not exceed 110 litres per 
person per day. Part G of the City Plan also sets out that applications should demonstrate that all 
reasonable techniques have been used to adapt to and mitigate the effects of climate change, 
and strongly encourages energy efficient measures and for applications to supply an Energy 
Statement. 

  
6.76 The submitted report sets out that the scheme is proposed to achieve very low carbon emissions 

through the use of good fabric performance and Air Source Heat Pumps to supply space heating 
and domestic hot water. Also the use of upgraded materials and increased insulation thickness 
and enhanced glazing, with low energy fittings and smart meters installed on all properties. 
Water consumption would be reduced through use of efficient water fittings and a water 
consumption target of 120 litres/bedspace/day will be followed. The report claims ‘excellent’ 
results with very low carbon emissions and that the apartments pass Building Regulations and 
therefore complies with Policy SD3. Electric vehicle charging would also be provided for the two 
accessible units closest to the Lodge.   

  
6.77 There are therefore some commitments to sustainability measures. Policy SD3 requires 

proposals to demonstrate how they contribute to the aims of sustainability by increasing energy 
efficiency, and will be expected to meet national standards. On that basis, there would be no 
conflict with Policy SD3 and reasonable techniques have been used to mitigate climate change 
effects. A condition is proposed to secure compliance with the water efficiency requirement.  

  
6.78 In terms of waste minimisation the application includes a statement with basic proposals. If 

permission is granted a detailed waste strategy can be worked up with the contractor for the 
construction phase so it is recommended that further details are secured by condition for the 
various elements of the development. Subject to this the proposals would comply with the policy 
requirements. 

  
6.79 Ecology 

The NPPF requires development to minimise impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. 
Policy SD9 of the JCS similarly requires the protection and enhancement of biodiversity in the 
area. City Plan Policy E1 requires the conservation of biodiversity and providing net gains. 
Potential adverse impacts on natural environment assets must be avoided or satisfactorily 
mitigated. Policy E6 specifically restricting development that would be likely to lead directly or 

Page 35



indirectly to an adverse effect on the integrity of the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of 
Conservation where these effects cannot be mitigated. Policy E7 requires biodiversity net gain 
on site (or a suitable alternative) if there is unavoidable significant adverse impact on trees, 
woodland or hedgerows. Policy E3 requires development to contribute to the provision, 
protection and enhancement of the green/blue Infrastructure Network. The Government intention 
to require a minimum of 10% Biodiversity Net Gain has been enacted into law and the provisions 
are expected to come into force later in 2023. 

  
6.80 The ecological appraisal sets out that there are no rare, scarce or protected habitats in the site. 

Other than the bat roost (see further below), historical use of the fishing lake by otter (no 
evidence otters still using the lake) and use of buildings and vegetation by breeding birds, there 
is no evidence or likelihood of the site being used by protected species. The pond is unsuitable 
for great crested newts and are likely absent – Natural England’s risk assessment tool shows it to 
be highly unlikely. The report proposes various mitigation measures during works, and provision 
of bird and bat boxes and habitat improvement. Overall there would be no significant cumulative 
effects.  

  
6.81 Building and tree assessments for bats, and an emergence survey of the Lodge were undertaken 

in late 2022. These confirmed the Lodge is a roost for lesser horseshoe and whiskered bats, plus 
soprano and common pipistrelle bats were recorded foraging around the site. A single minor 
common pipstrelle day roost was recorded in the Lodge in 2019, which was not recorded during 
the 2022 survey but assumed still present. This is considered to be of ‘local’ importance, while 
both the lesser horseshoe and whiskered bats are a rare species and these roosts are 
considered to be of ‘County’ importance. Given the disturbance that would take place, mitigation 
is required and is proposed as a bat house to the south east of the Lodge building between the 
pond and car park, suitable specified and at a location thought to be a flight line. It is proposed in 
blockwork and is unlikely to be a particularly attractive structure, although it would be somewhat 
screened by the Lodge and by vegetation, and the blocks are specifically chosen to encourage 
bats to hang on them. Further mitigation by way of bat boxes, a precautionary survey prior to 
works starting, and any new lighting being sensitively designed, is proposed. The re-use of the 
building is desirable and as such there are no realistic alternatives to these effects with lower 
impact if that is to be achieved. With the mitigation there would be no net harm to the protected 
species and no long term impacts on the species. 

  
6.82 The Council’s ecology consultant has reviewed the proposals and confirms that the proposed 

mitigation will suffice for the species identified as likely to roost on the site. The bat roosting 
features should be secured in perpetuity, and suitable construction methods including a 
pre-works bat survey and the bat-sensitive lighting scheme should be secured. These can be 
dealt with by conditions.  

  
6.83 Biodiversity net gain 

A biodiversity net gain report has been submitted which proposes a gain of 30.7% habitat units 
and 3.8% hedgerow units, through various on and off site planting and improvement measures. 
A management plan could be required by condition to secure management of these features. 
Because not all impacts could be mitigated on site, this proposal includes a financial contribution 
of £2500 to fund 30m of species-rich hedge and 3 trees in the adjacent park. The Council 
Ecologist welcomes the net gain and recommends a management plan. The BNG report 
references invasive plant species so it is recommended that the usual condition is added for its 
eradication. 

  
6.84 Habitats Regulation Assessment 

While the proposal is modest in scale there is an internationally designated nature conservation 
site approximately 3.5km from the site; the Cotswold Beechwoods Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC). Natural England has raised concerns about the impact of residential development within 
the City and wider area on these protected sites individually and cumulatively, and provides 

Page 36



comments where the City Council assesses the effect of projects on these sites under Habitats 
Regulations Assessments. 

  
6.85 In this scenario a Habitats Regulations Assessment screening is undertaken to consider any 

significant impacts on those sites, which concluded that the further stage of an ‘Appropriate 
Assessment’ is required. A shadow assessment has been submitted. While the site is 3.5km 
from the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC directly, the public rights of way into the SAC are around 
4.6km and the applicant suggests it is unlikely that residents would make regular use of the 
Beechwoods by this means. The development includes car parking provision however and 
access via car is quite possible. The applicant sets out that alternative recreational opportunities 
exist in close proximity to the site including Matson Park immediately adjacent and Robinswood 
Hill Country Park and that these are likely to absorb most of the day to day activities. Furthermore 
the loss of open space associated with the application is unlikely to deter use of these 
alternatives.  

  
6.86 The assessment includes the provision of paths from the development into Matson Park as a 

mitigation measure to formalise direct links and make these attractive to use. The application site 
does not accommodate all of the land necessary to link in these paths and as already noted 
above, the provision of paths in the park has been recorded as a negative in the open space 
assessment. A contribution of £1650 has therefore been agreed to fund the tying-in of these 
paths to the existing paths on the GCC land. The application also proposes mitigation by 
provision of residents’ information packs about impacts on the Beechwoods. 

  
6.87 The Council’s ecology consultant has endorsed this analysis and advises that with the mitigation 

of footpath connections to the adjacent park and information packs the development would not 
have an adverse effect on the integrity of the SAC. Natural England has been consulted on the 
Appropriate Assessment and raises no objection provided the path link and the residents’ pack 
are secured. These can be dealt with by a s106 contribution and by a condition, respectively. 

  
6.88 Subject to conditions the proposal is considered to comply with the above policy context and 

legislation.  
  
6.89 Economic and regeneration considerations 

The construction phase would support employment opportunities. Therefore the proposal would 
have an economic benefit of itself. Further, paragraph 3.1.9 of the JCS identifies that it is 
important to ensure that sufficient housing is made available to support the delivery of 
employment and job growth, and the scheme would assist in this. In the context of the NPPF 
advice that ‘significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth through 
the planning system’, this adds some weight to the case for granting permission. 

  
6.90 Planning obligations 

Planning legislation and the NPPF provide that planning obligations should only be sought where 
they meet all of the following tests: 
• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;  
• Directly related to the development; and 
• Fairly and reasonable related in scale and kind to the development.  

  
6.91 The NPPF provides that the planning system can play an important role in facilitating social 

interaction and creating healthy, inclusive communities. Policies INF3, INF4 and INF6 of the JCS 
require new residential developments to provide for any additional infrastructure and community 
facilities required to serve the proposed development. Policies OS.2, OS.3, and OS.7 of the 2002 
Plan set out the Council’s requirements for open space. This is reflected in Policy INF6 of the 
JCS which provides that where the need for additional infrastructure and services is expected, 
the Local Planning Authority will seek to secure appropriate infrastructure which is necessary, 
directly related, and fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind of the development 

Page 37



proposal. The requirements for S106 contributions arising from the proposal are set out below.  
  
6.92 Open space 

The proposal involves an area of public open space and as above, given the general 
presumption against its loss via development a financial contribution of £7587.63 is offered as 
mitigation to fund improvements to Matson Park. The loss of POS in isolation would not be policy 
compliant so the contribution is necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. As the basis is the scale of development proposed and based on the SPD calculations it 
would represent a sum for qualitative improvements that is fairly related in scale and kind to the 
development. It is directly related to the loss of the POS that the development would cause, and 
would fund improvements in the immediate vicinity.  

  
6.93 Path linkages 

As above, to formalise the linkages between the development and Matson Park to provide the 
most convenient recreation space, a financial contribution of £1650 is agreed to deliver the 
missing link of the pathway network, as required in the applicant’s habitats regulations 
assessment. This contribution is considered to be necessary in order to make the development 
acceptable in habitat impact planning terms, directly related to the development in so far as it is 
based on the impact of residents of the building in question, and fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development being based on the cost of the works proposed where 
undertaken by the Council. 

  
6.94 Biodiversity net gain planting contribution 

A financial contribution of £2500 is agreed to fund 30m of species rich hedge and planting of 
trees in the adjacent Matson Park for biodiversity net gain. This contribution is necessary to meet 
biodiversity net gain requirements offered by the applicant. It is directly related because it is 
quantified relative to the scheme impact, which also shows that it is fairly and reasonably related 
in scale and kind. 

  
6.95 S106 contributions summary 

In summary the contributions required are: 
 
A financial contribution of £7587.63 as open space mitigation to fund improvements to Matson 
Park. 
 
A financial contribution of £1650 to deliver the missing link of the pathway network between the 
development and the existing path. 
 
A financial contribution of £2500 to fund biodiversity net gain in the adjacent Matson Park. 
 
Related monitoring fees for the above.  

  
6.96 Other issues raised in representations 

The issues of the principle of building on the site, loss of trees, impacts on wildlife, the reference 
to considering the site as a conservation area, design and scale, amenity impacts, and housing 
provision, have all been addressed already. In terms of the extent of development, this comment 
appears to relate to an earlier version of the development with houses also proposed on the land 
to the south east part of the site. No houses are proposed; it appears that the applicant moved 
away from this scheme following the consultation. In terms of the extent of notifications, the 
Council is required to notify properties on adjoining land which it has done. Five Cranwell Close 
properties were notified; the ones opposite the south eastern edge of the site. Other 
neighbouring properties were also notified and, as above, site and press notices were also 
published. 

  
6.97 Conclusion 

Page 38



Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that where regard is 
to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be made under the 
Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The proposals have been assessed against development 
plan policies within this report. 

  
6.98 As identified the proposals would provide benefits including delivering housing in line with the 

government’s objectives of boosting housing delivery, providing a community use, increasing 
activity and natural surveillance in the area, and helping secure the future of a built heritage 
asset. 
 
The proposal would acceptably mitigate its effects on drainage, climate change and ecology, and 
would preserve amenity and the character of the built environment. It is also considered that the 
proposal would not cause a severe residual impact on the highway network based on the 
Highway Authority’s’ informal feedback. These are issues of neutral weight.  
 
In terms of potential disbenefits the proposals would cause less than substantial harm to 
heritage, which in terms of buried archaeology can be mitigated, and which overall has been 
concluded to be outweighed by public benefits. The proposals would lead to a loss of open space 
but this can also be mitigated subject to securing the s106 terms. Also the proposal would 
provide only 1 bedroom properties which is a negative impact of limited weight and considered to 
be outweighed by public benefits.  

  
6.99 In terms of the NPPF paragraph 11 d of the NPPF is applicable and sets out that in applying the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development the authority should grant permission unless  
- The application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; while there 
are heritage assets in the site and potential impacts on paragraph 181 habitats given the 
assessment above the Framework does not provide clear reasons for refusal.  
or 

- Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole; the adverse 
impacts of granting planning permission can be mitigated to an extent that they would not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  

 
Overall the adverse impacts of the development would not significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits. The proposal complies with the NPPF.  

  
6.100 In terms of the legislative requirements for heritage impact, the Planning (Listed Building and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes requirements in relation to considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, as set out 
earlier in the report. Great weight has been given to the impacts on designated (and any 
undesignated but equivalent significance) heritage assets. As above the development would 
cause less than substantial harm to heritage, which has been concluded to be outweighed by 
public benefits. The requirements of Section 66(1) of the Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas Act are satisfied. 

  
6.101 In terms of local policy there is broad compliance with the Joint Core Strategy, the City Plan and 

partially saved 1983 Plan as the development plan other than the conflicts noted that are of 
limited concern and outweighed by the benefits, and with the supplementary planning 
documents.  

  
6.102 For the reasons explained in this report it is considered that the proposals are in general 

compliance with the development plan. When considering all of the relevant material 
considerations in the balance, it is considered that the public benefits of the scheme outweigh the 

Page 39



identified harms, including the less than substantial harm to heritage assets. It is therefore 
considered that planning permission should be granted subject to conditions and s106 
agreement/s. 

 
7.0 RECOMMENDATION OF THE PLANNING DEVELOPMENT MANAGER 
  
7.1 Subject to the receipt of updated formal comments from the Highway Authority, either: 

 
1. If the Highway Authority raises no objection in principle, grant planning permission subject 

to the completion of a legal agreement/s to secure the terms set out at paragraph 6.95 of 
this report, the below conditions and additional conditions to address any necessary 
highways matters with the Planning Development Manager given delegated authority to 
determine any such conditions;  

2. If the Highway Authority raises objection, delegated authority be given to the Planning 
Development Manager to determine the application.  

  
7.2 Condition 1 

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years from the date 
of this permission. 
 
Reason 
Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 
Condition 2 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the drawings on the 
following plans except where otherwise required by conditions of this permission: 
 
Site location plan – 5591-P-01 Rev. D 
Proposed site layout – 5591-P-1000 Rev. Y 
Soft landscaping plan – 5591-P-1500 Rev. G 
Hard landscaping plan – 5591-P-1800 Rev. F 
Proposed lighting layout – 70062229-1300-01 Rev. P03 *Note Condition 17 
Bin store: Plans and elevations – 5591-P-250 Rev. B 
 
Flats  
Proposed floor plans – 5591-P-2000 Rev. F 
Proposed elevations – 5591-P-7000 Rev. F 
 
Reason 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans.  
 
 
Condition 3 
Notwithstanding the submitted details, construction of the following elements of the development 
shall take place only in accordance with specifications and samples of their appearance, as well 
as scaled elevations/plans showing their use across the building/site, that have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in advance of use: 
 

- a. All facing materials to walls of buildings and new structures within the site; 

- b. Roofing material to buildings and new structures within the site;  

- c. New windows and doors to buildings including scaled sections showing reveal depths;  

Page 40



- d. Hard surfacing materials.  

Reason  
To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and preserve the character and 
appearance of the area and the setting of the listed building.  
 
 
Condition 4 
Notwithstanding the submitted details, any new boundary treatments or means of enclosure shall 
be implemented only in accordance with scaled drawings of their location, form, appearance and 
materials that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of use.  
 
Reason  
To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and preserve the character and 
appearance of the area and the setting of the listed building.  
 
 
Condition 5 
Prior to the commencement of any above ground construction of a building a detailed 
methodology for the landscaping works to the existing vegetation at the boundary of the 
development site and the adjacent park (to south west of the proposed flat block) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved landscaping 
works shall be undertaken concurrently with the development construction and completed prior 
to the fifth occupation of a flat within the development, unless an alternative timetable for 
completion of the works is agreed to in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
These works are a key component of the benefits of the development for natural surveillance and 
required alongside the development or soon thereafter if there is a legitimate reason for delay 
such as an ecological impact.  
 
 
Condition 6 
Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to any above ground construction of a building, 
details of soft landscaping works including tree, hedge and shrub planting, rain gardens, and 
maintenance works for the vegetation along the north east edge of the site, (comprising of a 
scaled layout plan, planting specification including with respect to trees the size of specimen at 
the time of planting, tree pit details and any below ground mechanism to accommodate trees 
alongside utilities) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
To ensure a satisfactory and well planned development and to preserve and enhance the quality 
of the environment. The current submitted details are not appropriate to the site and positions 
and require amendment.  
 
 
Condition 7 
The approved soft landscaping details shall be carried out in full concurrently with the 
development and shall be completed no later than the first planting and seeding season following 
the completion of the building works. The planting shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details for a period of 5 years following implementation. During this time any trees, 
shrubs or other plants which are removed, die, or are seriously damaged shall be replaced during 
the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. If any plants fail more than once they shall 
continue to be replaced on an annual basis until the end of the 5 year maintenance period. Page 41



 
Reason 
To ensure a satisfactory and well planned development and to preserve and enhance the quality 
of the environment. 
 
 
Condition 8 
The 4 no. ground floor flats shall comply with the discretional Building Regulations as set out in 
Approved Document M(4)2 (access to and use of buildings) of the Building Regulations 2010 (or 
any amended or equivalent replacement standard) in relation to accessible and adaptable 
dwellings.   
 
Reason 
To achieve the required standard in the City Plan and provide for accessible and adaptable units.  
 
 
Condition 9 
No development shall be commenced on the site nor shall any machinery or material be brought 
onto the site for the purpose of development until full details of adequate measures to protect 
trees on the site that are to be retained and trees on adjoining land have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, These shall include: 
 
(a) Fencing. The protective fencing design must be to specifications provided in BS5837 2012 or 
subsequent revisions, unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. A scale plan 
must be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority accurately indicating 
the position of protective fencing. No development shall be commenced on site or machinery or 
material brought onto site until the approved protective fencing has been installed in the 
approved positions and this has been inspected on site and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of development.  
 
(b) Tree Protection Zone (TPZ). The area around trees enclosed by protective fencing shall be 
deemed the TPZ. Excavations of any kind, alterations in soil levels, storage of any materials, soil, 
equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, citing of site compounds, latrines, vehicle parking and 
delivery areas, fires and any other activities liable to be harmful to trees and hedgerows are 
prohibited within the TPZ, unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The TPZ 
shall be maintained during the course of development to the external parts of the building that 
requiring scaffolding or other mobile or fixed access equipment. 
 
Reason 
To ensure adequate protection to existing trees and to retain habitat, in the interests of the 
character and amenities of the area and protecting biodiversity. This is required prior to 
commencement of development given the harm that may be caused by initial works.  
 
 
Condition 10 
Construction and demolition work and the delivery of materials shall only be carried out between 
0800 hours to 1800 hours Monday to Friday, 0800hours to 1300hours on Saturdays and no 
construction or demolition work or deliveries shall take place on Sundays or Public/Bank 
Holidays.  
 
Reason  
To safeguard the amenities of the area. 
 
 
Condition 11 

Page 42



Prior to commencement of any development a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP shall include (but is not limited to):  
a. Site access/egress  
b. Staff/contractor facilities and parking 
c. Storage, loading and unloading areas for materials and plant 
d. Dust mitigation measures 
e. Noise and vibration mitigation measures 
f. Measures to protect ecological interests.  
 
Development shall take place only in accordance with the approved CEMP.  
 
Reason  
To protect the environment and ecological assets.  
These details are required pre-commencement due to the potential impacts of the first phase of 
works.  
 
 
Condition 12 
Prior to full implementation of an associated approved footpath diversion or a temporary closure 
of the public footpath being approved by the authorised public body, no obstruction of the existing 
public footpath through the site shall be caused during the construction period.  
 
Reason 
To maintain the public right of way.   
 
 
Condition 13 
Prior to commencement of any approved use, a scheme for biodiversity enhancement, including 
incorporation of permanent bat roosting features and measures such as nesting opportunities for 
birds shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall 
include a habitat management plan for at least a 30 year period. It shall include delivery of the 
biodiversity net gain proposals (set out in the CSA Environmental Biodiversity Net Gain Plan ref. 
CSA/4243/04 January 2023 and the associated Biodiversity Metric 3.1 Rev. A excel sheets other 
than the measures funded by s106 agreement contributions). The approved details thereafter 
shall be implemented concurrently with the development or to any approved alternative 
timetable, and retained and maintained for their designed purpose, in accordance with the 
approved scheme. This shall include, but is not limited to, the following details: 
 
i. Plans showing locations and extent of all existing and proposed habitats and wildlife features; 
ii. Description, design or specification of the type of feature(s) or measure(s) to be undertaken;  
iii. Materials and construction to ensure long lifespan of the feature/measure;  
iv. When the features or measures will be installed and made available.  
 
Reason 
To provide mitigation and net gains for biodiversity.  
 
 
Condition 14 
If development has not commenced by 1st August 2023 (i.e. within 12 months of the bat survey 
inspection of the two false acacia trees (G38a, G38b)), an update bat inspection by a licensed 
ecologist shall be undertaken prior to any development other than site securing. The findings of 
the bat inspection along with a detailed plan of any proposed mitigation measures and timescale 
for their implementation relative to the rest of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any development other than site 

Page 43



securing. Any subsequent development shall be undertaken only in accordance with the 
approved survey and mitigation measures.  
 
Reason 
To suitably protect any bats from development impacts.  
 
 
Condition 15 
Bat mitigation measures shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation section of the 
submitted CSA Environmental Bat Survey Report Rev. B 06/04/2023, the February 2023 CSA 
Environmental Bat Mitigation Plan CSA/4243/102 and the tree retention as per the approved soft 
landscaping plans (unless any revisions are proposed as part of the licensing process with 
Natural England in which case the amended details shall be submitted for approval by the Local 
Planning Authority in advance of commencing those works) and shall be fully implemented prior 
to any other works to the Lodge building or its immediate surroundings within a 10m radius of the 
edge of the building. The bat mitigation measures shall be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development. The EPS mitigation licence for bats and the bat sensitive lighting scheme shall be 
sent to the Local Planning Authority for approval prior to commencement of works other than site 
securing.  
 
Reason 
To suitably protect any bats from development impacts.  
 
 
Condition 16 
Construction works shall adhere to the sensitive methods of working set out in the mitigation 
section of the submitted CSA Environmental Bat Survey Report Rev. B 06/04/2023 including a 
pre-works bat survey.  
 
Reason 
To suitably protect any bats from development impacts.  
 
 
Condition 17 
Notwithstanding that submitted with the application external lighting to the development shall 
only be implemented in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The details shall follow the recommendations outlined in the submitted 
CSA Environmental Bat Survey Report Rev. B 06/04/2023 and include, but are not limited to the 
following: 
i. A drawing showing sensitive areas and/or dark corridor safeguarding areas; 
ii. Description, design or specification of external lighting to be installed including shields, cowls 
or blinds where appropriate; 
iii. A description of the luminosity of lights and their light colour including a lux contour map; 
iv. A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the light fixings; 
v. Methods to control lighting control (e.g. timer operation, passive infrared sensor (PIR)).   
 
Reason 
To suitably protect any bats from development impacts. 
 
 
Condition 18 
No development shall commence other than site securing until works have been undertaken in 
accordance with a detailed method statement for the removal/eradication of invasive species on 
the site that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and a 
validation report for those works has subsequently been submitted to and approved in writing by 

Page 44



the Local Planning Authority. The method statement shall include proposed measures to prevent 
the spread of invasive species during any operations such as mowing, strimming or soil 
movement. It shall also contain measures to ensure that any soils brought to the site are free of 
the seeds / root / stem of any invasive plant covered under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
Reason 
To protect the amenity of the local area by dealing with invasive species. This is required 
pre-commencement given the prospect for any development works inadvertently causing the 
spread of the species or otherwise inhibiting its eradication.  
 
 
Condition 19 
No demolition, tree removal or any other clearance works likely to impact upon nesting birds shall 
take place between 1st March and 31st August inclusive within any year unless a survey (by a 
suitably qualified ecologist) to assess the nesting bird activity on the part of the site to be 
developed during this period and a scheme to protect the nesting bird interest on the site have 
first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and then 
implemented as approved.  
 
Reason 
In the interests of the preservation of biodiversity.  
 
 
Condition 20 
An information pack setting out the location and sensitivities of the Cotswold Beechwoods 
Special Area of Conservation, how to avoid negatively affecting them, details for becoming 
involved in ongoing conservation of nature conservation sites, alternative locations for 
recreational activities and off road cycling, recommendations to dog owners for the times of year 
that dogs should be kept on a lead when using sensitive sites (i.e. to avoid disturbance to nesting 
birds), and details of public transport links and foot/cycle paths to encourage the use of other 
modes of transport to the car shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the occupation of any residential dwelling within the development and thereafter 
two copies of the approved information pack shall be issued to each new residential occupier 
prior to the occupation of each respective new dwelling. The information pack shall be produced 
as set out in Section 4.23 of the submitted Shadow HRA by CSA Environmental 2022.  
 
Reason  
To mitigate adverse effects on the integrity of the Cotswold Beechwoods as a result of the 
development.  
 
 
DRAINAGE 
 
Condition 21 
Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development shall commence other than demolition, 
site securing or an approved programme of archaeological works until a detailed design and 
timetable of implementation for the surface water drainage strategy presented in the Drainage 
Strategy ref. 9529/REP05 November 2022, and modified as set out below, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted strategy must 
demonstrate the technical feasibility and viability of the proposed drainage system through the 
use of SuDS to manage the flood risk to the site and elsewhere and the measures taken to 
manage the water quality for the lifetime of the development. The scheme for the surface water 
drainage shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and timetable and shall 
be fully operational before the development is first occupied for any of the uses hereby approved. 
In particular: 

Page 45



a) the permissible discharge rate shall be re-evaluated based on the existing impermeable area 
served by positive, on-site drainage (subject to a maximum rate of 4.7 l/s); 
b) care shall be taken not to damage the existing outfall pipe from the pond (not shown on 
applicant's drawings) which is likely to pass through the development site; 
c) design details shall include those for the proposed new outfall and surrounding pond edge 
including any required remedial works plus existing overflow; 
d) where the detailed design incorporates a non-infiltration method of surface water disposal, 
then percolation tests are required to demonstrate that soakaways are not viable. 
 
Reason 
To ensure the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and thereby 
reducing the risk of flooding. It is important that these details are agreed prior to the 
commencement of development as any works on site could have implications for drainage, flood 
risk and water quality in the locality. 
 
 
Condition 22 
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied for any of the uses hereby permitted 
until a Sustainable urban Drainage Strategy (SuDS) management and maintenance plan for the 
lifetime of the development, which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public 
authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the 
scheme throughout its lifetime, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved SuDS maintenance plan shall be implemented in full in 
accordance with the approved details for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason 
To provide for the continued operation and maintenance of sustainable drainage features serving 
the site and to ensure that the development does not result in pollution or flooding, to improve 
water quality at point of discharge.  
 
 
Condition 23 
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a drainage scheme for the 
disposal of foul water flows has been implement in accordance with details to be submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in advance.  
 
Reason 
This is to ensure that the development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as well 
as to prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk of pollution. 
 
 
Condition 24 
All units hereby permitted shall be designed with water efficient fittings and appliances such as to 
not exceed an estimated consumption of 110 litres of wholesome water per person per day.  
 
Reason 
To reduce water consumption and improve water efficient to the benefit of the water cycle and 
environment.  
 
 
Condition 25 
No development shall commence other than site securing or an approved programme of 
archaeological works until a Waste Minimisation Statement for the Construction Period has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Waste Minimisation 
Statement shall include details of the types and volumes of construction waste likely to be 

Page 46



generated and the existing demolition waste including measures to minimise, re-use and recycle 
that waste, and minimise the use of raw materials. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Waste Minimisation Statement.  
 
Reason  
In the interests of waste minimisation. This is required pre-commencement given the impacts are 
likely to commence immediately upon development starting. 
 
 
Condition 26 
No demolition or development shall start within the application site other than site securing until a 
written scheme of investigation of archaeological remains, including a timetable for the 
investigation, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include an assessment of significance and research questions; and: 

a. The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording. 
b. The programme for post investigation assessment.  
c. Provision to be made for analysis of the site investigation and recording.  
d. Provision to be made for publication and dissemination of the analysis and records of the 

site investigation. 
e. Provision to be made for archive deposition of the analysis and records of the site 

investigation. 
f. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the works set out 

within the Written Scheme of Investigation. 
 
Reason 
To make provision for a programme of archaeological mitigation, so as to record and advance 
understanding of any heritage assets which will be lost. 
This is required pre-commencement given the prospect of early development phase works 
impacting on buried heritage assets.  
 
 
Condition 27 
All development shall take place in accordance with the Written Scheme of Investigation of 
archaeological remains approved under Condition 26. This condition shall not be discharged until 
the site investigation and post investigation assessment has been completed in accordance with 
the programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation approved under Condition 26, 
provision has been made for the analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive 
deposition has been secured. 
 
Reason 
To make provision for a programme of archaeological mitigation, so as to record and advance 
understanding of any heritage assets which will be lost. 
 
 
Condition 28 
The cycle parking provision within the block of flats shown on the approved plans shall be 
installed and made available for use prior to the first occupation of a residential unit within the 
block of flats.  
 
Reason 
To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle parking is provided, to 
ensure that opportunities for sustainable transport modes are taken up.  
 
 
Condition 29 

Page 47



Notwithstanding that shown on the submitted plans, cycle parking provision for at least 4 cycles 
for users of the Lodge at a secure location shall be installed and made available for use prior to 
first occupation of the Lodge for the use hereby approved in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason 
To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle parking is provided, to 
ensure that opportunities for sustainable transport modes are taken up, and in the interests of the 
visual amenities of the area.  
 
 
***PLUS Highways conditions necessary to make the development acceptable; to be 
added following receipt of the Highway Authority’s formal consultation response.  
 
 
Note 
This permission is associated with a legal agreement dated xxxxx 
  
Note 
This permission does not approve any diversion of the public footpath. A separate diversion 
order must be secured and the development should not be started until the necessary order has 
come into effect.  

 

Person to Contact: Adam Smith (396702) 

Page 48



 
 
  
 
Planning Application: 22/00627/FUL 
  
Address: School Lodge, Matson Lane 
  
Committee Date: 1st August 2023 
 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 10019169 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



49
.049
.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

50.0

51.0

51.0

52.0

50.0

50.0

MH SILT TRAP

-- ---
>

MH UTL

TANK

CO
NC

IC UTL

->-

MATSON LANE

MATSON LANE

C/L H1.0

C/L H1.0

PR H1.2

PR H1.2

PR H
1.2

PR H
1.2

PR H
1.2

PR H
1.2

PR H
1.2

PR H1.0

PR H1.0

PR H1.0

GRASS
GRASS V

ERGE

GRASS V
ERGE

SCHOOL LODGE

LL H1.6

LL H1.6

CB H1.8

PR H1.0

PR H1.0

W/M H1.0

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASSGRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS V
ERGE

GRASS VERGE

GRASS V
ERGE

GRASS V
ERGE

GRASS VERGE

GRASS

SOIL

SOIL

CONC

CONCRETE

CB H2.0

CB H2.0

HER
AS

 F
EN

CE

HERAS FENCE

HER
AS

 F
EN

CE

W
/M

 H
1.8

W/M H1.8

W/M H1.8

PW
 BROKEN

PW BROKEN

PW BROKEN

MH UTL

CB H1.8 END

CB H1.8

GARAGE

CB H1.8

TILES

CB H2.0 END

W/M H1.8

CYP HEDGE H5LL H1.6

LL H1.6

3 STOREY STONE

SINGLE STOREY BRICK

2 STOREY BRICK

2 STOREY BRICK

W
/M

 H
1.0

RUBBLE

LAUREL HEDGE H6

CB H1.8

BW BROKEN

RET TIMBER/W

IC UTL

ELECTRIC

RET CONC/W

BUILDING PLINTH LINE

HERAS FENCE

CB H
2.0

HAW H4

CB H
2.0

PR H1.2

49.25

49.58

49.57

49.70

49.59

49.57

49.55

49.78
49.62

49.65

49.72

49.28

49.40

49.88

49.71

49.64

49.32

49.34

49.62

49.42

49.19
49.09

49.18

49.65

49.69

49
.7

2

49.65

49.48

49.21 49.50

49.53

49.62

49.80

49.62

49.84

49.79

49.61

49.82

49.75

49
.78

49.64

49.83

50.02

50.09

50.11 50.32

55.39

49.05

55.57

50.35

50.35

49.92

50.21

50.14

50.18

50.16
50.12

49.89

49.66

49.47

49.17

48.78

48.80

49.08

49.59

49.88

49.94

50.12

50.22

49.87

49.35

50.04

50.00

49.63

49.46

49.26

49.17

49.17

49.27

49.48

49.78

50.01

50.18

50.13

50.28

50.20

50.22

50.11

49.92

49.75

49.78

49.92

50.03

50.15

50.10

49.87

49.70

49.46

49.28

49.11
48.98

48.84

48.89

49.19

48.93

49.08

49.26

49.43

49.59

49.83

50.03

50.33

50.37

50.34

50.31

50.34

50.31

50.24

50.19

50.17

49.93

49.46

49.48

49.65

49.68

49.72

50.28

50.55

50
.19

50.50

50
.65

50.56

50.65

50.44

50
.49

50.77

50.63

50.67

50.55

50.40

50.63

50.67

50.64

56.09

60.43

52.51

51.86

51.72

54.84

54.09

55.59

56.40

50
.55

50.43

50.38

50.45

50.71

50.55

50.34

50.44

50.58

49.42

49.56

49.71

50.30

49.94

49.96

49.85

49.86

49.83

49.79

49.57

49.57

49.81

49.39

49.53
49.57

49.58

49.21

49.4149.38

49.55

51
.73

49.42

50.12

50.66

50
.30

50
.08

50.03

50.06 50.15

50.28

50.41

50.45

50.32

50.33

50.16

50.07

49.96

50.1950.06

50.10

50.01

49.75

50.01

50.15

50.09

50.29

50.22
50.09

50.02

50.03

50.07

50.23

50.27

50.32

50.42

50.54

50.3850.37

50.29

50.18
50.13 50.07

50.09

50
.10

50
.16

49.92

50.16

49.84

50.26

50
.35

49.68

49.84

49.35

50.43

49
.75

49
.73

49
.76

49
.88

49.77

49
.94

49
.68

49.75

49.68

49
.73

49.77

48.95

49.17

49.23

49
.1

8

48
.8

4

49.13

48
.9

0

49
.0

0

48
.84

48
.95

50.80

48
.96

49.51

51.45

51.59

52.13

52.05

52.03

50.85

51.00

50.93

50.55

50.30

49.96

49.34

49.72

50
.03

50
.38

50
.75

51
.07

51
.43

51.88

50.97

51.15

51.98

52.00

51
.8

0

51
.5

9

51
.27

50
.89

50
.56

50
.27

49.68

49.57

49
.58

49
.67

49
.69

49
.95

49.64

49.57

49.68

49.78

49.64

49.74

49.74

49.60

48.60

48.59

48.45

49.71

48
.67

49.19

48
.90

48
.92

48
.89

50.04

49.91

49.77

49.42

49.22

49.28

49.53

49.58

49.57

49.57
49.58

49
.58

49.57

49.57
49.80

49.74

49.54

49.62

49.47

49.30

49.89

49.82

53.59

54.08

52.06

49
.28

49.72

49.46

49
.3

4

49.12

49.27

49.05

49.05

49.05

49.01

49.17

49.79

49.98

50.02

50.31

51
.00

50.51

50
.45

50
.30

50
.16

49
.92

49
.70

49
.55

49
.43

49
.36

49
.24

49.14

49.08

49.35

49.21

49
.27

49
.32

49
.51

49
.75

49
.96

50.41

50.59

50.60

50.31

50.14

50.01

49.79

49.52

49.34

49.24

49.14

49.11

49.05

49.01

49.05 49.00

49.22

49.07

48.96

48.96

49.01

49.01

49.02

48.91

48.92

48.93

48.95

48.89

48.90

48
.94

48.95

48.95

49.06

49.06

49.18

49.18

49
.26

49
.43

49
.71

49
.92

50
.07

50
.25

50.54

50.70

50
.39

50
.09

49
.83

49
.57

49
.41

49.31

49.33

49.23

49.20

49.15

49.08

49.07

49.05

49.05

49.06

49.01

48.97

48.97

48.98

49.02

49.07

49.15

49.22

49.32

49.53

49.81

49.98

50.33

50.60

50.56

50.40

50
.25

50
.01

49
.91

49.71

49
.43

49
.33

49
.24

49.15

49.20

49.08

49.06

48.99

48.96

48.94

48.89

48.88

48.89

48.93

49.42

54.09

57.99

56.41

56.77

57.41

50.439
S02B

51.775
S03A

50.636
S004

49.895
S02A

50.186
S003

48.970
S01B

49.154
S01A

49.713
S002

49.617
S005

49.007
S001

TEL-HT

TEL-HT

DPC

FL
AT

 R
OOF

FLAT ROOF

W-HT

W-HT

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

POK

BIN

BIN

BIN

RIDGE

RIDGE

RIDGE

RIDGE

RIDGE

RIDGE

RIDGE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

EAVE

BOL

BOL
BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

BOL

MP-W

SIGN

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

STUMP

TP

TP

POST

POST

OSBM

WL

FFL

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

WV

LP

POP
D0.2
H10

HEDGE H4

OVERHEAD TELEPHONE

OVERHEAD TELEPHONE

OVERHEAD TELEPHONE

IR H1.0

49.0

YEW
MB
H5

LAUREL
MB
H5

HAW
MB
H8

FH

ASH
D0.2
H12

ASH
D0.25

H14

ASH
D0.3
H12

ASH
D0.3

H12

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.3

H14

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

BUILDING PLINTH LINEBUILD
IN

G P
LIN

TH
 LI

NE

PL
IN

TH
 LI

NE

BU
ILD

IN
G

TEL-HT

KEEP

SCHOOL

CLEAR

MH STORM
IL 46.99

ALL D150

IC FOUL?
IL 49.21

D100

FISHING
LAKE

Nos. 35-37
CRANWELL CLOSE

Nos. 39-41
CRANWELL CLOSE

TAYLOR
HOUSE

THE
RECTORY

GRAVEL
& SOIL
TRACK

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

DK

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

DK

DK

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

KERB

DK

RAMP

RAMP

BWBROKEN

MIXED
SHRUBS

H4-5
MIXED

SHRUBS
H4-5

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

ROUGH
VEGETATION

TAR
ACCESS

TAR
ACCESS

BUILDING
REMAINS

BUILDING
REMAINS

SOIL &
SLABS

MIXED
SHRUBS

H4-5

STONE
PILLAR

STONE
PILLAR

BT

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

GRASS &
GRAVEL

FP

TAR
FP

TAR
FP

TAR
FP

TAR
FP

TAR
FP

TAR
FP

GRAVEL
FP

GRAVEL
FP

GRAVEL
FP

BANK TO
P

BANK BASE

SL
AB

S

CONC

SLA
BS

CONC

SLABS

SLABS

BANK TOP

BAN
K TO

P

BANK TOP

BAN
K TO

P

BANK TOP

BAN
K TO

P

BANK TOP

BANK TOP

BAN
K TO

P

BANK TO
P

ASPEN
D0.1
H8

ASPEN
D0.1
H8

SINGLE
STOREY
BRICK

HAW
MB
H6

HAW
D0.15

H6
UNKNOWN

MB
H5 SAL

D0.2
H4

ACER
D0.2
H3

HOL
D0.1
H6

HAW
MB
H7

TAR & GRAVEL
CAR PARK

ACER
2x D0.5

H22ASPEN
D0.2
H10

ACER
D0.7
H20

ACER
MB
H15

ASPEN
D0.1
H10

ACER
D0.7
H20

ACER
MB
H13

ACER
D0.25
H12 ACER

2x D0.3
H13

HAW
D0.1
H7

ASPEN
D0.1 & D0.08

H8

PR
H1.0

PWBROKEN

ASH
D0.25
H12

ACER
D0.3
H18ACER

MB
H18

HAW
MB
H8

HAW
D0.3
H10

2 STOREY BRICK
(RIDGE NOT VISIBLE)

SAL
MB
H8

ASPEN
D0.25
H10

ACER
D0.2
H8

ACER
MB
H10

HAZEL
MB
H6

ASH
D0.25
H10 ACER

MB
H17 HAZEL

MB
H6

LAUREL
D0.2
H5

DEAD
MB
H6

HAW
MB
H10

CYP
D0.2
H18

CYP
D0.3
H18

CYP
D0.4
H18

CYP
D0.4
H18

CYP
D0.4
H18

CYP
D0.2
H8

CYP
D0.2
H8

CYP
D0.15

H8

CYP
D0.15

H8

WALNUT
D0.6
H15

CYP
MB
H3LAUREL

MB
H3

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.15
H12

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14ASH

D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H12

ASH
D0.3
H12

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.1
H12

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14ASH

D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.2
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

POP
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

OAK
D0.1 &
D0.18

H6

OAK
D0.3
H10

OAK
D0.2
H12

OAK
D0.25
H14

OAK
D0.25
H12

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14ASH

D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.25
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.3
H14

ASH
D0.2
H13

YEW
MB
H4

MIXED
SHRUBS

H4-5

HOL
D0.15

H6

FRT
D0.25

H8

ASH
D0.5
H15

ASH
D0.4
H15

HOL
D0.4
H4

ASPEN
D0.1
H8

BCH
D0.45
H15

ASPEN
D0.18

H7

HAW
D0.2
H8

HAZEL
MB
H5

YEW
MB
H6

YEW
D0.3
H6

YEW
D0.35

H6

YEW
D0.35

H6

ACER
D0.3
H9

ACER
MB
H13

ACER
MB
H10

ASH
MB
H21

LAUREL
MB
H6

OAK
D0.9
H22

OAK
D0.7
H18

PINE
D0.5
H25

LIME
D0.5
H23

LIME
D0.5
H21

GRAVEL
FP

CB H1.8END
PIPE

IL 49.44
D150

WIL
D0.4
H8

POP
D0.6
H22

POP
D0.6
H22

YEW
D0.4
H8

YEW
D0.3
H7

HOL
D0.15 & D0.1

H7

LIME
D0.7
H22

LIME
D0.7
H22

SINGLE
STOREY
BRICK

HAW
MB
H7

YEW
D0.2
H8 YEW

D0.4
H12

ACER
D0.25
H12

ACER
D0.2
H7

DEAD
D0.17

H7

LAUREL
D0.3
H5

ACER
D0.4
H18

LAUREL
D0.2
H5

LAUREL
MB
H5

LAUREL
MB
H5

LAUREL
MB
H5

MIXED
SHRUBS

H5

PINE
D0.2
H12

ACER
D0.4 & D0.15

H20

2 STOREY BRICK
(ENCLOSED IN

HERAS FENCING)

SLABS

BA
NK

 T
OP

BANK TO
P

BANK TO
P

BANK TO
P

BA
NK 

TO
P

SCALE

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING TITLE

DATE

NOTES
This drawing is the copyright of Quattro Design Architects Ltd and 
should not be reproduced in whole or in part without written 
permission. Only figured dimensions to be used for construction. 
Check all dimensions on site. Any discrepancies are to be reported 
to the Architect as soon as possible.

REVISIONS
REV: DATE - DRAWN - CHECKED: NOTES

DRAWING NO. REV

www.quattrodesign.co.uk

Matthews Warehouse, High Orchard Street
Gloucester Quays, GL2 5QY    T: (01452) 424234

1:500@A3

Feb 2020

5591-P-1000

Gloucester City Homes

School Lodge, Matson

Proposed Site Layout

-: 26.02.20 - SS:
A: 21.07.20 - DC - CC:
Site plan revised following planning officers comments. 
B: 29.07.20 - DC - CC:
Site plan updated with revised units. Bin and bike store now located 
within ground floor of accomodation block. 
C: 10.09.20 - BM - CC:
Site plan updated with revised units.
D: 22.10.20 - DC: 
Boundary treatment to rear of parking spaces adjacent to pond 
changed to knee rail. Stone pillars to adjacent to site access 
retained. 
E: 12.11.20 - DC:
Schedule of accommodation updated following floor plan revisions. 
F: 26.11.20 - DC:
Access track to north of School Lodge connecting to fishing pond 
reduced to 3.5m in line with Highways comments. Schedule updated 
with revised floor areas. 
G: 10.02.22 - DC:
Site plan updated. Reduction of proposed residential units to 9no 
flats. Existing lodge building to be converted into community use. 
H: 21.02.22 - DC: 
Hardstanding and bike rack positions around School Lodge revised. 
Additional parking space added.
J: 22.04.22 - DC:
Rainwater garden locations added. 
K: 18.07.22 - DC:
Access to bike store updated following internal amendements. 
L: 04.10.22 - DC:
Landscaping revised in accordance with LPA comments. Including 
contrasting block paving colour to footpath across shared surface 
and chamfered corner to footpath west corner of proposed flats. 
Footprint to School Lodge building revised to clients preference.  
M: 04.10.22 - DC:
Lodge footprint revised to accommodate additional parking space. 
N: 24.10.22 - DC:
Only trees within the site or effecting the site are now shown on 
plan. 
P: 25.10.22 - DC: 
Boundary treatments, planting layout and existing tree treatments 
revised following discussion with LPA meeting 25.10.22. Existing 
School Lodge building reverted to present layout (to be covered 
under separate application). Existing hatching and key revised for 
clarification of surface treatment. Redline amended to inc. Vis Splay.
Q: 16.11.22 - DC:
Landscaping updated following ecology comments.
R: 25.11.22 - DC:
Bin store removed from internal footprint to external store at site 
entrance.
S: 02.12.22 - DC:
EV charging points added to 2no parking spaces. 
T: 08.12.22 - DC: 
Position of EV chanrging point moved next to Lodge building. 
U: 12.12.22 - DC: 
Note added for repositioning of fence within Vis Splay.
V: 05.01.23 - DC:
Additional planting added following BNG assessment.
W: 16.01.23 - DC: 
EV charging locations amended following LPA comments.
X: 13.03.23 - DC:
Bat house added to south western boundary. 
Y: 20.06.23 - DC:
Site entrance narrowed following highways comments. 

0

2

5

10

20

50m

Site Boundary

Shared Surface

Key:

Contrasting Surfacing Colour

Schedule of Accommodation:

Converted Building - Community Use

9 Units

Y

existing raised table/traffic
calming feature

Unit 1       1B2P Flat @ 50.2sqm
Unit 2       1B2P Flat @ 82.5sqm
Unit 3       1B2P Flat @ 50.3sqm
Unit 4       1B2P Flat @ 50.2sqm
Unit 5       1B2P Flat @ 53.4sqm
Unit 6       1B2P Flat @ 54.2sqm
Unit 7       1B2P Flat @ 50.3sqm
Unit 8       1B2P Flat @ 52.9sqm
Unit 9       1B2P Flat @ 67.7sqm

Plot 1 - 9

Footpath

Road

Existing group of trees to have 
existing canopies thinned and / or 
lifted. Details of which to be 
conditioned in conjunction with 
consultation with LPA regarding 
treatment to trees outside of site 
boundary.

Additional native species to 
be added along boundary 
where required

1800mm Close Boarded Fence

Unsurfaced / Informal Track

900mm Metal Railings

Granite setts

450mm High Knee Rail

Retained Stone Pillars

Grass

Shrub 

Hedgerow

Hedgerow

EV
EV

Hedgerow
existing fence to be repositioned

Hedgerow

Hedgerow

Retained Trees

Proposed Planting

Trees to be removed

RPZ

Line of Public Right of Way

Proposed Trees

Rainwater Gardens

Parking Space w/ EV ChargingEV

Bat House

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Reference Status Site address Proposal Decision date

22/00339/FUL Refused 17 Amberley Road Proposed 2 bedroom detached dwelling 17/05/23

22/00692/FUL Grant 234 Stroud Road Proposed dwelling to rear garden with new vehicle access 10/05/23

22/00739/FUL Grant 12 Woods Orchard Road Erection of a new single storey dwelling in the gardens of 10 & 12 Woods Orchard Road 31/05/23

22/00837/ADV Grant 22 Southgate Street
New Fascia Shop Signage NON Illuminated - Flat fascia board fitted into the existing sign 

frame with raised stainless steel lettering fitted
23/05/23

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Abbeydale

23/00065/LAW

LAW

The provision of twin unit mobile home (not operational development) within 
the garden of the lawful dwelling house for use as additional accommodation 
by a family member as part of one household (not a material change of use)

ROBBA 02/06/2023

95 The Wheatridge East Gloucester GL4 5DW 

23/00407/FUL

G3Y

Single storey rear extension

THOME 29/06/2023

72 Rumsey Close Gloucester GL4 5JY 

23/00309/LAW

RELAWZ

Single storey side extension to fill in L shape of existing space

THOME 16/06/2023

4 Ranmoor Gloucester GL4 5BQ 

23/00390/FUL

G3Y

Single storey rear and side extension

THOME 26/06/2023

24 Swift Road Gloucester GL4 4XQ 

23/00052/FUL

G3Y

Single and two storey front side and rear extension with associated access 
point and access road

THOME 01/06/2023

52 The Wheatridge Gloucester GL4 4DJ 

23/00322/FUL

G3Y

Proposed increase in height of 'Ball Stop' fencing to south end only of sports 
pitch at Abbeydale Community Centre

STOCC 27/06/2023

Abbeydale Community Centre Glevum Way Gloucester GL4 4BL 

Abbeymead

23/00351/FUL

G3Y

Removal of conservatory and erection of single storey front and rear extensions

THOME 16/06/2023

21 Fox Close Gloucester GL4 5YH 

Page 55



23/00310/LAW

PDV

Single storey rear extension

THOME 02/06/2023

44 Kingsmead Gloucester GL4 5DY 

22/00905/FUL

G3Y

Existing garage conversion and proposed new detached garage and store

THOME 12/06/2023

14 Bluebell Close Gloucester GL4 4GP 

23/00247/FUL

G3Y

Side Extension to existing property connecting into existing garage to create 
additional living space.

THOME 21/06/2023

19 Bay Tree Road Gloucester GL4 5WD 

Barnwood

23/00236/FUL

REF

First floor bedroom extension and garage conversion

THOME 12/06/2023

14 The Hazels Gloucester GL4 5WN 

23/00397/FUL

G3Y

Two storey rear and single storey rear and side extensions and garage 
conversion

THOME 29/06/2023

6 Tower Close Gloucester GL4 3EL 

Barton & Tredworth

23/00110/LAW

RELAWZ

Loft Conversion

STOCC 21/06/2023

30 Pembroke Street Gloucester GL1 4EG 

22/01131/FUL

REF

Change of 334 and 334A from a takeaway to 1 x 3 bed house, 1 x 2 bed flat.

STOCC 29/06/2023

334 Barton Street Gloucester GL1 4JJ 

Page 56



23/00084/TCM

G3Y

Proposed Rooftop upgrade to the existing telecommunications installation. 
Proposed removal and replacement of 2No. 3m main support poles with 2No. 
6m climbable support poles and 3No. Antennas with proposed 3No. Antennas. 
Proposed installation of 1No. GPS Module. Existing inside equipment room to 

  be refreshed internally and associated ancillary works. Please refer to 
drawings

PARKH 01/06/2023

236 Barton Street Gloucester GL1 4JR 

22/00873/FUL

REF

Ground and first floor extension to side elevation.  Providing a Hallway on 
ground floor and Shower Room on first floor.

STOCC 23/06/2023

16 Regent Street Gloucester GL1 4UJ 

Coney Hill

23/00373/FUL

REF

Single storey flat roof rear extension and two storey extension over existing 
kitchen

THOME 20/06/2023

28 Newton Avenue Gloucester GL4 4NR 

23/00126/FUL

G3Y

Two storey rear extension

THOME 13/06/2023

20 Birch Avenue Gloucester GL4 4NL 

23/00169/FUL

G3Y

Extension in the form of a glazed canopy due to the need for additional space 
and increased capacity of the business and installation of new window and 
door on north elevation of existing building.

ADAMS 30/06/2023

7B Highfield Place Gloucester GL4 4PB 

Elmbridge

23/00081/FUL

G3Y

Two storey side and rear extension

ROBBA 15/06/2023

14 Argyll Place Gloucester GL2 0QS 

Page 57



23/00300/NMA

NOB

NMA to permission 20/00932/FUL for inclusion of 2No. sectional doors to the 
side elevation of unit 4, installation of pedestrian access gates to the side 
elevations, a marked area for overnight and Christmas Day parking within the 
asphalt parking area and installation of a mezzanine floor to units 3 and 4, with 
reception below.

THOME 21/06/2023

Railway Triangle Site Metz Way Gloucester  

23/00355/FUL

G3Y

Installation of a Portakabin Limited Titan Building to be used as a remote site 
welfare unit for Ambulance crews. Involves the marking of 3 Ambulance 
parking bays with EVC points and hatching.

PARKH 27/06/2023

Aspen Medical Practice Horton Road Gloucester GL1 3PX 

Grange

23/00284/LAW

LAW

Single storey rear extension and internal alterations

STOCC 21/06/2023

23 Ruardean Drive Quedgeley Gloucester GL4 0WS 

23/00293/FUL

REFUSE

Single storey side extension

STOCC 15/06/2023

30 Petworth Close Gloucester GL4 0TG 

Hucclecote

23/00254/FUL

REF

Single storey side extension

THOME 09/06/2023

2A Zoons Road Gloucester GL3 3NZ 

23/00261/FUL

REF

Side and rear two and single storey extensions to dwelling

THOME 02/06/2023

8 Noake Road Gloucester GL3 3PE 

Page 58



23/00282/FUL

REFREA

Side and rear extensions with loft conversion

THOME 19/06/2023

79 Mayfield Drive Gloucester GL3 3DT 

23/00067/FUL

REF

 Demolition of existing property and construction of new house.

STOCC 21/06/2023

44 Larkhay Road Gloucester GL3 3NU 

Kingsholm & Wotton

23/00246/FUL

REF

Gate to be used within gap in approved wall

MILLD 26/06/2023

Sandhurst Cottage Sandhurst Lane Gloucester GL2 9AB 

23/00283/LAW

LAW

Single storey rear extension and associated roof changes

THOME 26/06/2023

26 Estcourt Road Gloucester GL1 3LG 

Longlevens

23/00469/CONDIT

ALDIS

Discharge of Condition 11 (report on archaeological work) of permission ref. 
16/01558/OUT

ADAMS 22/06/2023

Playing Field Rear 3-29 Paygrove Lane Gloucester  

23/00276/PDE

NRPR

Single storey rear extension (5.55m x 4.85m x 3.57m)

MILLD 21/06/2023

23 Church Road Gloucester GL2 0AB 

23/00298/FUL

G3Y

Two storey side extension

ROBBA 21/06/2023

67 Windermere Road Gloucester GL2 0LZ 

Matson, Robinswood & White City

Page 59



22/01053/FUL

G3Y

Rear extension

PARKH 15/06/2023

41 Campion Close Gloucester GL4 6YQ 

Moreland

23/00244/FUL

REFUSE

Two storey side extension

STOCC 16/06/2023

Gurnard Seymour Road Gloucester GL1 5PS 

23/00018/FUL

G3Y

Proposed garage conversion to office/games room, external alterations and 
small front extension

STOCC 19/06/2023

1 The Oval Gloucester GL1 5EE 

23/00149/TCM

AAPRZ

The installation of a 20m high slim-line monopole, supporting 6 no. antennas, 1 
no. wraparound equipment cabinet at the base of the monopole, 2 no. 
equipment cabinets, 1 no. electric meter cabinet and ancillary development 
thereto.

ROBBA 01/06/2023

GLO26870 Bristol Road Gloucester  

23/00125/FUL

REFUSE

First floor rear extension

STOCC 20/06/2023

143 Linden Road Gloucester GL1 5JB 

23/00365/LAW

LAW

Lawful Development Certificate for the existing lawful use of the units as Use 
Class E of Part A, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes 
Order 1987 (as amended)

ADAMS 19/06/2023

Units 2, 3A, 3B, 4B, 5A And 5B The Peel Centre 4 St Ann Way Gloucester GL1 
5SF 

Podsmead

Page 60



23/00371/TCM

AAPRZ

The installation of 17m high slim-line monopole, supporting 6 no. antennas, 2 
no. equipment cabinets, 1 no. electric meter cabinet and ancillary development 
thereto including 1 no. GPS module

THOME 21/06/2023

GLC26948 TCM Footway At Lower Tuffley Lane Gloucester  

23/00339/CONDIT

ALDIS

Discharge of Condition 19 (Bristol Road and Tuffley Crescent access) for 
granted 14/00860/FUL application

THOME 02/06/2023

St Gobain Former Wellman Graham Bristol Road Gloucester GL2 5BX 

23/00332/TCM

PRIRE

The proposed installation of a 18m monopole comprising 6 no antennas and 2 
no dishes together with the addition of 2no cabinets and 1no meter cabinet 
together with ancillary development thereto.

PARKH 06/06/2023

GLO26507 Tuffley Avenue Gloucester  

23/00405/ADV

GFY

Replacement of 1x existing 96-sheet poster board with 1x 48-sheet digital 
advertisement hoarding to display static advertisements on rotation (D-Poster).

THOME 27/06/2023

SITE NO 8446 OPP ASHVILLE ROAD Bristol Road Gloucester  

23/00233/ADV

GFY

Erection of freestanding digital 48 sheet display

THOME 02/06/2023

Unit 6 The Old Log Pond Bristol Road Gloucester GL2 5GR 

Quedgeley Fieldcourt

23/00301/FUL

G3Y

    Condition Number(s): Condition 2Conditions(s) Removal:There has 
been some minor changes to the external facade, so we we wish to substitute  

 the drawings (drawing numbers in Condition 2 to be revised)(drawing 
numbers in Condition 2 to be revised)

PARKH 09/06/2023

Quedgeley Medical Centre  Olympus Park Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4NF

23/00386/FUL

G3Y

Single storey extension and garage conversion

PARKH 26/06/2023

2 Manor Cottages Naas Lane Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 2SA 

Page 61



Quedgeley Severn Vale

23/00345/FUL

G3Y

Garage conversion with front and rear extensions and replacement of 
conservatory with single storey extension

PARKH 14/06/2023

5 Kingfisher Rise Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4XZ 

23/00286/FUL

G3Y

Erection of extension to form enclosed front porch.  Erection of single storey 
rear extension.

PARKH 20/06/2023

35 Hasfield Close Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4GJ 

Tuffley

23/00249/PREAPP

CLOSED

 Proposed outbuilding - potentially for the use as an Air B B

PARKH 26/06/2023

8 Ardmore Close Gloucester GL4 0BL 

23/00330/FUL

G3Y

Single storey side extension with associated works

PARKH 06/06/2023

25 Rissington Road Gloucester GL4 0HS 

23/00335/FUL

G3Y

Single storey rear extension and part works to garage

PARKH 19/06/2023

6 Bateman Close Gloucester GL4 0HH 

23/00362/PDE

NRPR

Removal of existing rear conservatory and extension to be replaced by a rear 
extension measuring 9.0m in width, 5.0m in depth and a maximum height of 

 2.62m.

PARKH 20/06/2023

17 Forest View Road Gloucester GL4 0BX 

Westgate

Page 62



22/01120/ADV

GC

Proposed vinyl signage applied to 2no. existing canopies and 2no hanging 
signs to the Lock Warehouse.

ROBBA 26/06/2023

Unit A Lock Warehouse Severn Road Gloucester GL1 2GA 

22/00012/LBC

G3L

Listed building consent for works to enable the conversion of Estate Agents 
into 2no. self-contained flats and a smaller retail unit/shop

MILLD 16/06/2023

3 - 5 Worcester Street Gloucester GL1 3AJ 

23/00238/JPA

AAPRZ

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a proposed change of 
use from Commercial, Business and Service (Use Class E) to a 7-bedroom 

 Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3)

STOCC 09/06/2023

45 Park Road Gloucester GL1 1LP 

23/00273/CONDIT

ALDIS

Discharge of Condition 19 (resident information pack for protected ecological 
sites) of permission ref. 20/00645/FUL

ADAMS 06/06/2023

Flat 1 8 Market Parade Gloucester GL1 1RL 

23/00415/LBC

G3L

Demolition of former 'front bar' at RAOB club (17/00658/OUT) followed by 
repair/preservation works to gable end of Whitesmith's Arms (Listed Building 
UID 1271773)

FEH 27/06/2023

Whitesmiths Arms 81 - 83 Southgate Street Gloucester GL1 1UR 

23/00361/LBC

REF

Installation of through floor lift to benefit disabled owner

PARKH 19/06/2023

1 Newark House Hempsted Lane Gloucester GL2 5JR 

23/00203/CONDIT

ALDIS

Discharge of Condition 4 (treatment of ground floor windows and doorways) of 
permission ref. 22/00556/FUL

ADAMS 21/06/2023

Former Debenhams 30 - 44 Northgate Street Gloucester GL1 1SQ 

Page 63



23/00334/FUL

G3Y

Change of use from a cafe and offices to a dental surgery

PARKH 09/06/2023

29 Brunswick Road Gloucester GL1 1JE 

23/00145/FUL

G3Y

Replacing existing timber fencing with new dwarf wall and metal railings. New 
brick wall fencing to parking side of the fencing to match existing brickwork. 
Rear elevation redecoration, paint finish to match front elevation color.

ROBBA 21/06/2023

Regal St Aldate Street Gloucester GL1 1RP 

23/00086/ADV

GC

One internally illuminated fascia sign to accommodate existing Greggs' shop 
extending into the vacant adjoining shop.

MILLD 21/06/2023

17 Southgate Street Gloucester GL1 1TG 

22/00011/FUL

G3Y

Change of use/conversion of Estate Agents into 2no. self-contained flats and a 
smaller retail unit/shop

MILLD 16/06/2023

3 - 5 Worcester Street Gloucester GL1 3AJ 

Page 64


	Agenda
	Copyright Notice for viewing documents via Public Access

	3 Minutes
	5 Land off Matson Lane, Gloucester - 22/00627/FUL
	5591-P-1000Y Proposed Site Layout (rec. 23.6.23)

	6 Delegated Decisions
	Delegated Report 010623 to 300623


